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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting
Period”).

REVIEW

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$70.2 million or 30.5% from approximately HK$229.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$300.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the contribution from revenue of a sizable project,
namely Kai Tak KT1K.

FORWARD

Looking ahead, the Group is confident about the prospect of the
facade and curtain wall works solution industry in Hong Kong due
to the expected growth of the construction industry in Hong Kong
driven by the Hong Kong Government’s initiatives to increase the
land supply for private housing as well as commercial buildings.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, shareholders and
business partners for their patronage. | would also like to express
our sincere appreciation to the Group’s management and staff
for their commitment, contribution and dedication throughout the
years.

By order of the Board
Chow Mo Lam
Chairman

22 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWED N

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong. Our solutions are customised to
meet the technical specifications and performance requirements
of our customers. We generally provide both design and build
services in our projects, ranging from developing designs,
conducting structural calculations, preparing shop drawings,
sourcing and procuring building materials, arranging for building
material logistics and installation works, project management to
post-project completion services. We engage subcontractors to
perform the installation work from time to time.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 10 projects in progress with
a total original contract sum of approximately HK$520.5 million, of
which approximately HK$130.6 million was recognised as revenue
during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, we were awarded five new projects,
with a total contract sum of approximately HK$348.1 million.
Letter of award of these five projects were signed and all these
five projects are now at the commencement stage.

OUTLOOK

The demand for facade and curtain wall works is driven by
construction of residential and commercial buildings. The
development of residential buildings in Hong Kong has been a
major driver of facade and curtain wall works and the number grew
from 13,643 new units in 2019 to 20,888 new units in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Another driver for the facade and curtain wall works industry is
office buildings in Hong Kong where the Hong Kong Government
puts effort in developing areas like Kowloon East as new
business areas. According to The Hong Kong Property Review
2021 compiled by the Rating and Valuation Department, office
completions in 2020 were 69,000 m?, representing a considerable
fall of 74% from 2019. 88% of the completions were in the non-
core districts. Completions of Grade A space amounted to 46,300
m?, equivalent to 67% of the total supply. These buildings included
both installation of curtain wall systems as the envelop system
above the podium and the works for the building entrance, lobby
and the associate stores. Completions are expected to increase
to 70,900 m? and 275,300 m? in 2021 and 2022 respectively. New
supply in 2021 will mainly come from Kowloon at 60% of total
completions, all attributable to Sham Shui Po, Wong Tai Sin and
Yau Tsim Mong. In 2022, new supply will be concentrated in Kwun
Tong, the Eastern district and Tsuen Wan, accounting for 31%,
23% and 15% of the estimated completions respectively.

Notwithstanding the negative impact from the economic slowdown
driven by the global macro-economic conditions, the Group
remains optimistic about its core business as the management
believes that there is a market for quality facade and curtain wall
works in Hong Kong. The Group will further strengthen its sales
effort, closely monitor the status of the projects and carefully
control the cost of services as to expand its customer base and
achieve sustainable business growth and long-term benefits to its
shareholders. We are hoping to be more competitive and able to
compete for more sizeable and profitable projects.

The Group considers that the recent outbreak of the COVID-19 will
affect our business and the Group is actively updating its project
status with its customers. The Board will continue to assess the
potential impact of the outbreak on the Group’s operation and
will closely monitor the Group’s exposure to relevant risks and
uncertainties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWEDT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$70.2 million or 30.5% from approximately HK$229.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$300.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the contribution from a sizable project, namely Kai
Tak KT1K.

Our revenue during the reporting period are generated from the
Group’s customers in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 March
2021, the Group generated (i) revenue of approximately HK$89.7
million from commercial properties projects, representing
approximately 29.9% of the Group’s revenue; and (ii) revenue
of approximately HK$210.3 million from residential properties
projects, representing approximately 70.1% of the Group’s
revenue.

Cost of Services

The Group’s cost of services primarily consisted of building
material costs, subcontracting charges, staff costs and other
direct costs. The cost of services increased to approximately
HK$284.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 from
approximately HK$212.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2020,
representing an increase of approximately 34.2%. The increase is
in line with the increase in revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$2.3
million from approximately HK$17.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2020 to approximately HK$15.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021. The Group’s gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 7.6% for the year ended 31 March 2020
to approximately 5.1% for the year ended 31 March 2021,
representing a decrease of approximately 2.5 percentage points.
The decrease was due to the fact that (i) the gross profit margin
of new projects were lower than the projects for the year ended 31
March 2020 as a result of the intense competition in the market
and other market players may submit tenders with lower price;
and (i) additional subcontracting costs incurred when carrying out
certain projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Income, Gain and Loss

Other income, gain and loss increased by approximately HK$1.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 mainly due to the receipt
of subsidies under the Employment Support Scheme launched by
the Hong Kong SAR Government.

Impairment Losses

Impairment losses decreased by approximately HK$0.3 million
from approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2020 to approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$1.4 million from approximately HK$11.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$9.8 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021. Administrative expenses consisted
primarily of administrative salary expenses and Directors’
emoluments, depreciation, legal and professional fee, rental
expenses and other administrative expenses. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease in legal and professional
fee of approximately HK$0.6 million, the decrease in audit fee
of approximately HK$0.5 million and the decrease in insurance
expenses of approximately HK$0.2 million during the Reporting
Period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased from approximately HK$5.6 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$4.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease in finance costs was
mainly attributable to the decrease in the average interest rate of
the bank borrowings.

Taxation

The income tax expenses for the year ended 31 March 2021
was approximately HK$1.0 million as compared to the income
tax credit of approximately HK$2.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. Such change was mainly attributable to the one-off
tax refund of approximately HK$2.3 million arisen from prior years
during the year ended 31 March 2020, and the provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax since the Group’s unused tax losses were fully
utilised against the profit for the year during the year ended 31
March 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDT

Profit for the Year

Profit for the year decreased from approximately HK$3.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$1.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such decrease was primarily
attributable to the net results of: (i) the decrease in gross profit
of approximately HK$2.3 million; (i) the increase in the other
income, gain and loss of approximately HK$1.6 million; and (iii) the
decrease in the administrative expenses of approximately HK$1.4
million.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$10.6 million, increased by approximately HK$2.5 million when
compared with approximately HK$8.1 million as at 31 March 2020.
Such change was mainly attributable to the interim payments from
our customers.

The pledged deposits, including both the non-current and current
portions, as at 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$27.4 million,
decreased by approximately HK$4.9 million when compared with
HK$32.3 million as at 31 March 2020, as a result of the withdrawal
of pledged deposits of approximately HK$5.0 million.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$95.5 million repayable on demand or within
one year (2020: HK$94.6 million) and outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$2.5 million repayable after one year (2020:
HK$1.7 million). The Group’s borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”"). The amounts due are based on scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. For information
about the interest rate, please refer to note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements of this report.

Both the current ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020 were 1.4 times. The gearing ratio, being the net debt
(defined as bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents
and pledged bank deposits) divided by net debt plus total equity
at the end of the year, increased from approximately 46.4% to
approximately 47.5% as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021,
respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 23 February 2018. There has been no change
in the capital structure of the Group since then. The share capital
of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$8.0 million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
800,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank deposits with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$27.4 million (2020: HK$32.3 million),
invoices issued to customers with total amount of approximately
HK$25.1 million (2020: HK$24.0 million) and the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$9.8 million
(2020: HK$10.4 million) were pledged to secure certain letters of
guarantee facility and banking facilities respectively, granted to
the Group. The pledged cash deposit of HK$3,200,000 (2020: nil)
was pledged to a third party to secure the performance guarantee
granted by the third party of HK$8,088,000 (2020: nil).

As at 31 March 2021, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and two companies
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam or his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and Polykind Far East Limited)
had pledged their properties to secure banking facilities granted
to certain subsidiaries of the Group for nil consideration.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDT

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of surety bonds in
favour of customers of certain construction contracts. Details
regarding these guarantees are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Save as
disclosed herein, there is no other contingent liabilities that the
Group is aware of.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group
during the Reporting Period. Saved as disclosed in this report,
the Group did not have other plans for significant investments,
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The majority of the Group’s businesses is in Hong Kong and is
denominated in HK$, Renminbi and United States Dollars (“USD”).
As no material monetary assets or liabilities were denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group is of the opinion that its exposure
to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Thus, the Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 98 (2020: 87) employees.
Total staff cost (including Directors’ emoluments) were
approximately HK$41.5 million (2020: HK$39.4 million). The
remuneration package offered to our employees generally
included basic salaries, bonuses and other cash allowances or
subsidies. The Group determines the salary of our employees
mainly based on each employee’s qualifications,
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts annual
review on salary increase and promotions based on the
performance of each employee. The Group provides on-the-job
training to our employees and sponsors certain employees to
attend training courses.

relevant
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 25
January 2018. Please refer to note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group mainly carries out its business in Hong Kong. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong during the year.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently
mitigated the risks present in our operations and financial position
as efficiently and effectively as possible.

- Changes in the cost of building materials and staff as well
as the subcontracting fees may result in cost overrun, which
could materially affect our results of operation and financial
performance;

- The Group may face difficulties in refinancing or increase in
cost of financing;

- Mismanagement or delay of our projects will materially
affect our reputation and also our financial performance as
penalties and/or additional costs may be incurred;

- Cash flow of our projects may fluctuate;

- We rely on subcontractors to complete our projects.
Underperformance of our subcontractors or unavailability
of subcontractors may adversely affect our operations,
profitability and reputation; and

- Our success significantly depends on the key management
and our ability to attract and retain additional facade and
curtain wall design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the prospectus dated 31
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEEBREFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Mo Lam, aged 67, is one of the controlling shareholders
(the “Controlling Shareholders”, which has the meaning as cited
under the GEM Listing Rules), an executive Director, the chairman
of the Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Chow is one of the founding members of the Group and joined
the Group in February 2006. He is primarily responsible for the
overall business strategy, annual budget proposals and major
business decisions of the Group with a focus on our finance. Mr.
Chow was appointed as a Director on 25 May 2017, appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 9 August 2017 and re-designated as
an executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a director of
3 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
Henley Management College (which is, after merging with another
school, currently known as the Henley Business School) in the
United Kingdom through distance learning in 1995 and a Master of
Laws in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) Law from the Open
University of Hong Kong in 2005. Mr. Chow is also a fellow member
of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants from the
United Kingdom. Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in the
construction industry, and has been a founder, an investor and
a manager of curtain wall companies in Hong Kong and the PRC.
He has been a director of CMD Aluminium Industry (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd (HELBHERECRINBERAR) (‘CMD (52)"), which is
principally engaged in the manufacturing of curtain wall in the
PRC and wholesale of construction materials, glass and aluminium
products in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, since February
2003, and gained experience in the curtain wall industry for
over 10 years therein. In February 2006, Mr. Chow co-founded
Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”) with
other founding members, aiming to capture emerging business
opportunities within the construction industry in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chow is a proprietor of Albert Chow C.P.A., a certified public
accounting firm incorporated in Hong Kong which, save and except
for providing company secretarial service to Polyfair HK since
our establishment up to 1 September 2017, does not have any
business relationship with the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, aged 63, is one of the Controlling
Shareholders, an executive Director, the chief executive officer
of the Group and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Yu joined the Group as an executive officer of Polyfair HK
in April 2009 and was appointed as a director of Polyfair HK in
February 2010. Mr. Yu is primarily responsible for the overall
business strategy, annual budget proposals, and major business
decisions of the Group with a focus on our operation and project
management. Mr. Yu was appointed as a Director on 25 May 2017
and re-designated as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.
He is also a director of 2 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in facade and curtain wall,
aluminium window and entrance door construction, and project
and enterprise management in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yu co-founded Condo Construction & Engineering
Company Limited (subsequently known as Condo Curtain Wall
Company Limited) and Condo Engineering (China) Limited in 1983
and 1986, which specialised in the design, supply and installation
of aluminium windows, curtain walls, glass walls and metal
claddings in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and worked therein
until December 2002. During his service in these two companies,
Mr. Yu participated in business operations and was responsible
for overseeing the design, supply, installation and quality control
matter of projects.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESRGREEREBEEFE

Mr. Wong Kam Man, aged 61, is an executive Director and a senior
project manager of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group as a
senior project manager of Polyfair HK on 10 August 2012. Mr.
Wong is primarily responsible for project management in terms of
construction programme, supervision of our subcontractors’ work
and implementation of quality assurance and/or quality control
procedures in compliance with contract specifications. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a Director on 9 August 2017 and re-designated
as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.

Mr. Wong is a holder of Certificate in Civil Engineering of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in aluminium and metal works construction in Hong
Kong. Mr. Wong worked for various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong including Wah Tung Metal Engineering
Co., PMB Cyberwall Ltd. and Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering)
Limited as a site supervisor, project manager and senior project
manager. He participated in numerous construction projects and
he was responsible for, among others, project planning, budgeting
and management, design monitoring, installation supervision,
quality control and coordinating with main contractors. Prior to
joining the Group on 10 August 2012, Mr. Wong worked as a senior
project manager at Wah Tung Metal Engineering Co. from February
2010 to July 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, aged 70, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He also serves
as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
respectively. He has been working as a lecturer at the School of
Continuing and Professional Studies of the Chinese University of
Hong Kong since 1996. Dr. Lung also worked at the City University
of Macau from 2013 to 2018, where he last served as an assistant
professor.

Dr. Lung was employed as a company secretary (November
2002 to October 2009) and financial controller (November
2002 to October 2008) of VST Holdings Limited, a main board
listed company (stock code: 856). He was also appointed as
an independent non-executive director of eprint Group Limited
(stock code: 1884) from November 2013 to August 2016. Dr. Lung
has over 30 years of professional and commercial experience in
company secretary, accounting and finance.

Dr. Lung is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries respectively. He is also an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Dr. Lung obtained a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration from the Tarlac
State University in the Philippines through distance learning in
November 2012 and a degree of Master of Business Administration
from the University of Macau (formerly known as the University of
East Asia, Macau) in February 1988.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESRGREEREBEEFE

Mr. Man Yun Yee, aged 68, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 12 February 2020. He also serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. He has over 40
years of experience in auditing, accounting and management. He
is currently an engagement partner of Dickson W. P. Mak & Co.,
a certified public accountants firm in Hong Kong. He first joined
Dickson W. P. Mak & Co. in May 2009 and served as a senior
auditor from May 2009 to April 2012 and from February 2015 to
April 2016, and he has become an engagement partner since May
2016.

Mr. Man obtained a master of professional accountancy from
Jinan University in the People’s Republic of China through distance
learning in January 2002. He was admitted as an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(formerly known as Hong Kong Society of Accountants) in May
2000 and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in March 2005.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung, aged 37, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. Mr. Wong also serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
He obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
in Finance and Management from The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in 2005. Mr. Wong has extensive
experience in accounting and corporate finance.

Mr. Wong is a non-executive director and chairman of BCI Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8412). He was the vice president
of INCU Corporate Finance Limited from July 2016 to April 2021.
He was a non-executive director of China Information Technology
Development Limited (stock code: 8178) from July 2016 to June
2019 and a non-executive director of China Oil Gangran Energy
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Fairson Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8132) from June 2011 to December 2013, and
also worked at SMI Management (HK) Limited, SMI Corporation
Limited and Ernst & Young.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny, aged 54, is the design director of
the Group. He is primarily responsible for general technical and
engineering work, preparing conceptual designs of tender and
ensuring that the use of building materials complies with the
contracts and the Buildings Department’s requirements. Mr. Wong
Chi Kan Johnny is a holder of Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 30 years of
experience in the construction and engineering industry in Hong
Kong. He joined the Group on 1 March 2006 as a senior design
manager.

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny has worked in various construction and
engineering companies in Hong Kong since February 1989 as an
assistant technical manager and later as a senior design engineer.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Nuclear Construction and
Engineering Co., Ltd. from January 2003 to February 2006 where
he was responsible for engineering design, and his last position
held was senior design engineer. Before that, he was employed by
Condo Curtain Wall Co., Ltd. as an assistant technical manager
from February 1989 to January 2003.

Mr. Ning Gong, aged 33, is the senior project engineer of
the Group. He is primarily responsible for drafting structural
designs of facade and curtain wall, and preparing submission
for the Buildings Department’s approval. He obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Engineering in Harbour, Waterway and Coastal
Engineering from the Shanghai Maritime University in the PRC
in 2010, and further obtained a degree of Master of Science in
Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2011. Mr. Ning has approximately 9 years of experience in the
construction and engineering industry in Hong Kong. He joined the
Group on 9 March 2017 as a project engineer.

Mr. Ning has worked in various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong since October 2011 as an assistant
engineer and as a project engineer. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in Chun Sing Engineering Co., Ltd. from August 2014 to
February 2017. His main duties during this employment were to,
among others, coordinate with clients and structural/geotechnical
consultants, conduct structural research, design foundation
system, develop construction methods and interpret and review
design work. His last position held was project engineer.
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance
the corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code.
The Company will enhance its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the operation and growth of the business of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less than the required
standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”) as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Required Standard for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less than the Required
Standard for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Man Yun Yee (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee)

Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” on pages 14 to 19 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2021, 4 board meetings were held, of
which all the meetings were regular Board meetings. Apart from
regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.

Notice of at least 14 days are given to all Directors for all regular
Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretary of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials,
and are provided with adequate information in a timely manner,
which enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters
placed before it.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer are held by Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen,
respectively. The chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief
executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and daily management and operations generally.

Independent non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors,
representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. Code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment and that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company with a term of three
years until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

One-third of the Directors are subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”)
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”). The term of offices of every Director is also subject to
retirement by rotation at the AGM at least once every three years
pursuant to the Articles.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, determines the policy for
the corporate governance of the Company, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.
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The independent non-executive Directors are primarily responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Board reserves its right to decide on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent non-
executive Directors and (if any) non-executive directors in various
board committees to safeguard objectivity and independence.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements. The Board and each Director
should have a separate and independent access to and meetings
with senior management of the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills.

be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would

Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would

be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses.

The Directors have participated in the following training during the
year ended 31 March 2021:
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Directors Types of Training Nete BE=x 35 3 3 B
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam A&B B M5 £ AKB
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen B RIUEIHE B
Mr. Wong Kam Man B IR EE B
Independent non-executive Directors VHHITES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah A&B BEEEE L AKB
Mr. Man Yun Yee A&B XE R E AKB
Mr. Wong Chi Yung B FTEERE B

Note: M 5

Types of Training 53128 A

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A HEM@BEARMNENTE HE® g

seminars, conferences and workshops ERITHEHEEIRE
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and B: MEMBMERER W&  H7 - ¥EX

relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.
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The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under
“Corporate Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3 of the
CG Code. The written terms of reference of Audit Committee was
revised on 12 November 2018. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; review the financial
statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting;
and oversee internal control procedures of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah,
Mr. Man Yun Yee and Mr. Wong Chi Yung. Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah is
the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings for the year ended
31 March 2021, at which the Audit Committee reviewed the
quarterly, interim and annual financial statements and the
related results announcement, reports and documents and
attended various matters or issues raised by the Company’s
auditor, made recommendation to the Board the re-appointment
of the Company’s auditor, discussed and confirmed with the
management the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems and made
recommendation to the Board and reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance to comply with the
CG Code. The Audit Committee members met the external auditors
once a year without the presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph
B.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Group; to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment; review performance-based remuneration; and
ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
currently consists of five members, namely Mr. Man Yun Yee, Mr.
Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah and
Mr. Wong Chi Yung. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee
is Mr. Man Yun Yee.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, 1 meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee, at which the Remuneration Committee
discussed and reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management, assessed
the performance of the Directors, recommended to the Board
the remuneration package of Mr. Man Yun Yee and approved the
remuneration packages of senior management of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band
are set out in note 13 in the notes to the audited consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph A.5 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee currently
consists of three members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Yung, Dr. Lung
Cheuk Wah and Mr. Man Yun Yee. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Wong Chi Yung.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, 1 meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee, at which the Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’s structure, size, composition and diversity,
and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.
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Attendance Record for Board Meeting,
Committees’ Meeting and General Meeting

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the
Board Committees meetings and the general meeting for the year

ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the following table: RERIMT
Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting
R E4) R
Name of Directors BEEpS ESgeE ZE883 ZE98E Z2983 BREAE
Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman) BRMEE(EE) A N/A 171 N/A 171
TEA i A
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RULRE 4/ N/A 1" N/A 111
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTH A7) TEA T A
Mr. Wong Kam Man BERXEE A N/A N/A N/A 171
TER TERA i A
Independent Non-executive BUHYTES
Directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah REEFL 44 5/5 il 11 11
Mr. Man Yun Yee XHREE A 5/5 171 171 11
Mr. Wong Chi Yung FTEBLELE /b 5/5 il 171 171
Total number of meeting(s) eREy 4 5 1 1 1
Corporate Governance Functions 1 EERBEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach
to identify, assess and manage different types of risks. As
the first line of defence, business units are responsible for
identifying, assessing and monitoring risk associated with each
business or transaction. The management, as the second line
of defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical
support, develops new system and oversees project management.
It ensures that risks are within acceptable range and that the
first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the
independent consultant assists the Audit Committee to review the
first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and
management of risks associated with its business activities
through ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering
the likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group
has implemented an effective control system which includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, a
sound management system and periodic review of the Group’s
performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.
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As the corporate and operation structure of the Group is not
complex and a separate internal audit department may divert
resources of the Group, the Group currently does not have an
internal audit department. However, the Group has engaged an
independent third-party internal control consultant to, on an
annual basis, review and provide recommendations on improving
its internal control system in order to manage our business
risks and to ensure our smooth operation. The review covered
certain operational procedures. No significant control failings
or weakness have been identified by the consultant during the
review. The Board and the Audit Committee would review the need
for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2021. The
Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were
identified.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Group to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Group.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees of the Company in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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Procedures and internal controls include:

) Only designated persons are authorised to communicate the
Company’s corporate matters with investors, analysts, the
media or other members of the investment community;

i) Directors should report to the Chief Executive Officer
any potential or suspected inside information as soon as
possible for him to consult the Board for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making appropriate
disclosure; and

i) Disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner
that can provide for equal, timely and effective access by
the public to the disclosed inside information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 72 to 76 of this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the
Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited,
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$585,000 and HK$15,000 respectively.

in respect of audit

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for
the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below
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Fees Paid/Payable

B/ ENEH
(HK$)
(A7)
Audit Services ZE R 585,000

Non-audit Services IEZ BRI
- Profits tax service - MISH R 15,000
600,000

COMPANY SECRETARY NEWE

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (“Mr. Liu”) appointed as Company Secretary of
the Company since 11 November 2019.

Mr. Liu has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Liu has been a practicing member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2012. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration
from Lingnan University in December 2005. Mr. Liu was employed,
among others, by Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited
(an accounting firm which merged into BDO Limited on 1 May
2009) from January 2006 to December 2009 with his last position
as an senior associate; PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited as
2012 and from
January 2014 to August 2016 with his last position as a manager;
and Wong’s Kong King International (Holdings) Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 0532) as a finance
manager from April 2012 to April 2013. Mr. Liu is the founder and
director of Zhong Pu CPA Limited, which principally provide audit

a senior associate from January 2010 to April

and advisory, consultancy, taxation services for clients ranging
from private entities to listed companies in Hong Kong.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board has access to the
advice and services of Mr. Liu at all time in accordance with Code
Provision F.1.4 of Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Liu has
taken no less than 15 hours of professional training for the year
ended 31 March 2021 pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the website of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the Shareholder
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend
and vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly
signed by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices
should be lodged at the Company’s head office or the office of
the Company’s branch share registrar. The period for lodgement
of such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch of
the notice of such general meeting and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and
Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries as mentioned above to the

following:

Address: Anli Financial Communications Limited
Room 1901-02, 19/F,
Shanghai Industrial Investment Building
48-62 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2325 6661

Fax: (852) 3956 4350

Email: Polyfair@anli.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the
online message form available on the Company’s website at
www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk and are reminded to lodge the

questions together with their contact information for the prompt
response from the Company if it deems appropriate. The Company
will not normally deal with anonymous enquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. A shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by
the Board at the Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming
to provide to the shareholders and potential investors with ready
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
of the Company. Extensive information about the Company’s
activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly reports and
this annual report, which are sent to shareholders of the Company.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries. The notice of the annual
general meeting is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear
days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which is
taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Results of the
poll are published on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website. All corporate communication with shareholders will be
posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles for the
year ended 31 March 2021. An up-to-date version of the Articles is
also available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

Polyfair Holdings Limited E# R ER A A

BRRREERBR REEFHERF

ARRRBEBREBREBENARES
BEKEEEHASEEEKEREAMEKED
THMHAEEZE - 582 MN201851H25H
BINEEFSEZ LERMA " BREBARK
K EBETERIARECREERATSY
MESHEBSAARZEAESRIEROER -
ERARBEHNFAERERTE TAR
AIRRAFEREG - TERERAFHRA

RARBAEFERENFTEYE  LH
REBRRAFTASNEMBRERE - &
EYRHERX(MER ARRBEFAE FERK
REeH WEEEH RRAFAeHBES

MRRERITZEEL20EBBRIDET 8
PRIR o IRIZGEM ETR A - AR F] /fx?J

VEERRRRGLREZEFBREAR

NIEBTFTARR - &%‘%%%Q%GEM%MJ&E
RARBRUEAM - ABRREHOHAERF

BABEHNRARBBEARRRER -

HE2021F3A31BILFE - AR A I & H
40 B VB AT S 24 o 40 BI A & 3T A AR AT %
PINNETFE RPN R i = gl



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environment,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) on the
environmental, social, and governance (the “ESG”) aspects
with the initiative of outlining selected key performance
indicators (the “KPI(s)”), in accordance with the guidelines of
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In this ESG Report, the Company strives to disclose its
policies and practices towards the ESG aspects of the
Group in Hong Kong during the year ended 31 March 2021
(the “Reporting Period”). All information and data disclosed
herein were based on formal documents and internal
statistics of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is principally
engaged in investment holding. The principal activities of the
Group include provision of design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall systems
in Hong Kong.

BOARD OVERSIGHT

A strong governance framework is key to ensuring the
ESG issues that the Group faces are incorporated into our
corporate agenda. To ensure our key management oversight
of ESG issues, sustainability governance is integrated into
corporate governance structures throughout the Group,
from Board level committees to management level group
functions and operation units.
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RE #HEgRERRSE

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE - THE BOARD AND

ESG COMMITTEE

The Group conducts a top-down management approach
regarding its ESG issues. The Board of directors (the
“Board”) oversees and develop ESG strategy and reporting,
is dedicated in enhancing our ESG commitments and data

collection systems, and has approved this ESG report.

To develop a systematic management approach for ESG
issues, the Group has established an ESG committee
chaired by an Executive Directors and composed of various
department head from finance, human resources and

operation functions to manage the Group’s ESG
matters.

The ESG Committee periodically holds meeting for
identifying, assessing and monitoring the Group’s ESG risk.
It also examines and reviews the Group’s ESG performance

against the Group’s ESG related goals and targets.
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MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND ESG
POLICIES

The Group incorporated corporate, environmental and
social responsibilities into its business strategies to
promote healthy entertainment to and integration of
society, contribute to environmental sustainability, achieve
healthy and harmonious developments of its staff as well
as continue to create long-term value for its stakeholders.
During the Reporting Period, the Company has implemented
relevant ESG policies, which:

. are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant
laws and regulations on corporate ESG that have a
significant impact to the Group’s business;

. continue to facilitate social integration by actively
implementing the concept of “eliminating racial
discrimination and building a harmonious society”;

. encourage the employees to raise their awareness
towards “energy and resource savings”, support
and promote energy saving and emission reduction
measures;

. integrate green philosophy into the development of the
Group and ensure the Group is in compliance with the
environmental laws and regulations; and

. strive to establish healthy and harmonious
relationships with its employees, shareholders,
suppliers and other stakeholders.
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IV. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT IV. E&Z ASEH
The Company consistently values the stakeholders that are ARFA—EERTIAEELELEED
influenced by the Group’s operational activities including FENESA BERPF - HERD-
clients, suppliers, employees, community groups and EE -#HEEERBAEES - &M
government bodies, etc. We communicate irregularly through FREREERARETITHER A
various communication channels with each other in order THRELEHRERTEEANEGIR
to build up a mutual understanding of each other’s vision HZE - ARFI2EZFENERLE —
and expectation on environmental and social responsibility. HERARREERTEEETNIEEESR -
With reference of these, the Company develops a designated WHIERARBEEBEZERNKRESR
environmental and social responsibility framework and sets 1=
long-term objectives for the sustainable development of the
Company.
Major Stakeholders Communications Channel Expectations
FTERERA BRERE i
Government = Inspection in daily operating — Compliance with the law
B - Letter from the Government - Tax payment
-RAFKERERER - BRAE
- B e -]
Shareholders - General meetings - Corporate image
% = - Information disclosed on website — Economic performance
and Stock Exchange -ERR
-RERE - EBERE

- A8 T B PR BB 0 B R

Customers - Meeting with customers - Environmental protection
®F — Communication by email/telephone - Product/service quality
-gREP - RR
-BWEEEBR -Em/IRBEXR
Employees - Meeting with management = Occupational safety
== - Training - Remuneration benefits
-eRERE -BEZE
- &l - BB
Suppliers or subcontractors — Business visits - Payment on time
HERRSE™ - Communication by email/telephone - Operating conditions
-ABED - TR
-BWEEEBR -gEMRR
Communities - Charitable activities - Protecting the nature
HE = Sponsorship — Social responsibility
-RERD -REBA
- &8 -HEER
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MATERIALITY AND REPORTING BOUNDARY

To ensure that this report addresses the issues that are
critical to the Group and significant to our stakeholders,
we have conducted a materiality assessment. This will
help us to identified improvement in our corporate social
responsibility work.

The ESG committee has analyzed those information,
compared with industry reference and evaluated them in
accordance with the principles of materiality, quantitative
and consistency. The Group applies a consistent
methodology in setting out relevant materiality level,
quantitatively measurement and reporting scope.

The scope of this ESG report included our major business
segment-provision of design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall systems
covering our headquarters in Hong Kong and design house
in Shenzhen.

The Board has reviewed and approved the assessment of the
ESG committee and then disclosed the result in this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimizing
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy saving and recycling of office resources. The Group
will continue to seek for better environmental practices
and promote the right environmental attitudes within the
organisation. In general, the Group endeavours to:

. comply with relevant laws and regulations and target
to achieve beyond minimum requirements;

. avoid or minimise air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes;

. make efficient use of resources;

. minimise negative impact of the Group’s activities on
environment; and

. promote the stakeholders to go green and re-assess
their operations environmentally.
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A1 EMISSION

Emissions refer to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes.

As the Group is principally engaged in provision of
design and project management services for facade and
installation of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong, there
were neither significant levels of pollutants discharged
into water and land nor significant generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes during the Reporting Period.
The main contributor to the Group’s carbon footprint is
greenhouse gas emissions caused indirectly from electricity
consumption in office.

We promote energy efficiency and emission reduction in all
operation processes. Nevertheless, the Group is committed
to protect environment by seeking to reduce the impact
on the environment especially regarding the reduction of
greenhouse gas emission and preservation of resources.

To achieve this, the Group has adopted various measures to
lower waste and consumption levels in our office and other
facilities:

- limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable
indoor temperature;

- switch off photocopiers, printers and computers after
office hours;

- unplug all equipment chargers and adapters when they
are not in use so as to reduce power consumption; and

- clean the air conditioning and ventilation system
regularly.

There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Group’s businesses on this aspect.
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As minimum environment impact results from the Group’s
operation, KPIs A1.3 Hazardous waste produced, A1.4 Non-
hazardous waste produced and A1.6 Waste management
are immaterial to the Group’s operation and have not been
disclosed in this ESG Report.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s greenhouse
gas emission from energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from electricity consumption were approximately
32.5 tonnes of carbon dioxide (“CO,”).

The greenhouse gas emissions were approximately 32.5
tonnes of CO, in total and approximately 331 kg of CO, per
employee.

R #gRERHRSE
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A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission Year ended 31 March 2021
AM2BERBHER HE2021F3AMNHLEE
Scope 2 — indirect emission-CO, 32.5 tonnes
#BE2 - BEHFR - AR 32.5M8
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A2 USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has implemented paperless concept in the
internal human resources management processes. It
includes paperless employee pay advice and company
internal notice. In addition, the use of recycled paper for
printing and copying, double-sided printing and copying
have become the Group’s internal practices. These practices
greatly reduced paper consumption and cost. The Group
regularly collects and evaluates printer usage data to
monitor the effectiveness of the paperless environment.

In order to reduce unnecessary usage and improve efficient
use of resources, the Group has established the “energy and

resource savings” policy, under which:

. lights and electronic appliances in workplace must be

turned off when they are not in use;

. limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable

indoor temperature;

. computers, photocopy machines, printers and other
office equipment must be turned off when the staff are

off duty or on leave;

. turn off lighting and air conditioning when the guest

room is vacant; and

. use of recyclable resources e.g. recycle paper.

The Group will continuously monitor and manage the use of
resources in order to reduce its operating costs as well as

the carbon footprints.
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As there is no issue in sourcing water, KPI A2.4 has not been
disclosed in this ESG Report. Further, as only immaterial
water and packaging material were consumed in the Group’s
operation, KPI A2.2 and KPI A2.5 are not applicable to the
Group and has not been disclosed in this ESG Report.
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Use of resources

ERER
ENERGY CONSUMPTION — Electricity Year ended 31 March 2021
RFEHE-BD BZE2021F3A3NBLFE

Total Electricity consumption (Kwh)

BHERE(TER)

around 46,000 Kwh
#946,000F FL B

Total Electricity consumption per employee (Kwh) around 470 Kwh

BREBENERE(TRE)

ENERGY CONSUMPTION
BE I K #E

Total energy consumption — Electricity (MJ)

RREREE -SHOKEH)

Total energy consumption per employee (MJ)

BREERRERECLER)

PAPER CONSUMPTION
A&

Total office paper consumption (KG)

moRReREE(TR)

#470F R

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE2021F3A3NBLFE
around 165,000 MJ
#9165,000K = H

around 1,700 MJ
#)1,700 6 £ B

Year ended 31 March 2021
B £202153A31HLEFE
around 3,500 KG
#)3,500F 7=

Total office paper consumption per employee (KG) around 35 KG

BEEERABEAREE(TR)

#4935F 72
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A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group promotes environmental awareness among
our employees and encourages them to work in an
environmentally responsible manner. To further promote
environmentally friendly office conditions, the following

methods are used:

1. all used printer cartridges are returned to the supplier

for recycling;

2. recycling bins are placed in the offices’ common areas

to separately collect waste paper for recycling;

3. employees are encouraged to print double-sided

documents to reduce paper usage; and

4. make sure its business operation complies with the
environmental law in Hong Kong and its operating

locations.

A4 CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group takes reference to the recommendations of the
Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”)
on identifying and disclosing the potential impacts of
climate-related risks on the Group. We have assessed the

following risks:

Physical risks

. acute physical risk which arises from particular
event, such as storm, floods or fire that may damage

production facilities and disrupt value chains; and

. chronic physical risk which arises from longer-term
changes in the climate, such as temperature changes,

rising sea levels.
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Transition risks

. policy risk, for example, energy efficiency

requirements;

. legal risk, for example, risk of litigation for failing to
avoid or minimize adverse impacts on the climate;

. technology risk, for example, a technology with a less
damaging impact on the climate replaces a technology
that is more damaging to the climate;

. market risk, for example, the choices of consumers
shift towards products and services that are less
damaging to the climate; and

. reputational risk, for example, the difficulty of
attracting and retaining customers and business
partners if a company has reputation for damaging the
climate.

Based on the on-going assessment of the Group, it is
believed that the Group is subject to low physical risk and
transition risks.

SOCIAL
B1 EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total number of
98 employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group is
committed to providing a fair and respectful workplace for
our employees. The Group ensures our human resources
policies are in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations and with reference to the general practice
and benchmark of the industry. A comprehensive system
of remuneration, incentive and performance management
system has been established to attract and retain talents
for our long-term and stable growth. The system consists
of basic salary, legal and extra benefits (i.e. mandatory
provident fund, medical and other insurance, annual leave,
sick leave and various subsidies), and monetary rewards
(i.e. discretionary bonus and sales commission) for the
employees.
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The Group understands that the employees are its most
important asset. The Group has established a human
resource policy, under which:

. employees are reviewed annually on a performance
basis with reference to the market standards for
consideration of promotion and/or reward;

. in order to promote a harmonious and mutual respect
working environment, a staff manual is established to
govern the recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and leaves. The staff manual also stipulates the
anti-discrimination policies and employees’ code of
conducts;

. clear work processes according to professional
and ethical labour practices have been clearly
communicated to all employees. Certain policies
to govern employees’ affairs such as payroll,
attendance and termination are clearly set out in
staff appointment letters in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the law of Hong
Kong); and

. diversity of workforce is promised, including in terms
of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of
equal opportunity. The management regularly reviews
the Group’s remuneration policy in relation to relevant
market standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of
any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.
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B1 EMPLOYMENT B1{E &
As at 31 March 2021, all of the employees of the Group M2021F3A31H  A5EMBEREEDN
are permanent staff and the distribution of workforce is ABERET BISMEEMRMT:

summarised as follows:

L/

Gender

Age distribution
FERof

i3]

18-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 Over 60 Male Female
m 18-305% m 31-408% m 41-50%% =~ 51-60%% = 605 A £ m B zZit
As at 31 March 2021, the employee turnover of the Group is M2021F3A31H - AEBEEE RAE
summarised as follows: BEaan T -
Number Rate
HK Region ERBE A" b =
AGE DISTRIBUTION FHRoMm
18-30 18-30%% 1 20%
31-40 31-408% 4 17%
41-50 41-505% 7 54%
51-60 51-605% 5 33%
Over 60 B60B% A 1 9%
GENDER % Bl
Male B 16 30%
Female e 2 14%
Total et
Employee turnover EBERAE 18 27%
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Number Rate
PRC Region W El it & AH b=
AGE DISTRIBUTION Fiof
18—-30 18-308% 1 100%
31-40 31-405% 6 22%
41-50 41-5073% 1 25%
51-60 51-60%% 1 100%
Over 60 605% A £ 0 0%
GENDER 4 Bl
Male B 32%
Female 27 1 17%
Total 5t
Employee turnover EEmMK=E 9 29%

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY B2 ERZE

The Group always emphasises the importance of
occupational health and safety. Workplace health and
safety policies have been established in compliance with
applicable local laws and laws in the mainland China.
Assessments on these policies are conducted regularly to
keep our standards updated and practical. For any potential
problems that may jeopardise our employees’ health and
safety, the Group implements protective and improvement
measures to minimise any incidents. The measures taken are
listed below:

. provide auxiliary tools e.g. trolley, pump-action water
dispenser, ladder, etc;

. set up safety warning signs, banners and slogans in
the work sites;

. organizing a series of trainings in relation to
occupational safety;

. conduct emergency response drills regularly;

. install fire extinguishers, sprinklers, hose reels and
smoke detectors;
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. prohibit smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace;

. arranging regular pest control; and

. supporting team members to achieve a healthy work-
life balance.

Appropriate measures will be continuously taken by the
Group to improve the safety and health of the employees in
workplace.

Special note on measures against COVID-19

In relation to the COVID-19, the Group and operations have
fulfilled all the lockdown and quarantine requirement
imposed in Hong Kong. In addition, we have also established
necessary precaution measures, including regularly
sanitizing our workplace premises, allowing flexible working
place and hours, minimizing socializing, requiring mask-
wearing and setting up a reporting policy to timely report
suspected or confirmed inflection cases of our employees
and their associates.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material
accidents in the course of our business operation which gave
rise to any claims and compensation paid to our employees
and the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
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B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY B2 ERZE

Year ended

31 March 2021

B £2021%F

INDICATOR BE SANALEE
Number of reportable injuries' BATHRBIERE 0
Injury rate? T8t &2 0%
Number of reportable occupational diseases AT RWMBERTE 0
Occupational disease rate? B 3£ 8 kb RO 0%
Number of lost days* BARTIEAS 0 dayB
Lost day rate® BRTER &L &5 0%
Number of work-related fatalities EITIERIERIET A 0
Fatalities rate TR 0%

! Reportable injuries refer to work-related accidents to !

employees resulting in incapacity for a period exceeding
three days in Hong Kong or PRC.

The injury rate is calculated based on the number of injuries
per 200,000 hours worked (100 employees working 40 hours
per week for 50 weeks).

The occupational disease rate is calculated based on the
number of occupational diseases per 200,000 hours worked.

Lost days refer to the days that could not be worked as a
consequence of a worker being unable to perform their usual
work because an occupational accident or disease.

The lost days rate is calculated based on the number of lost
days per 200,000 hours worked.

Polyfair Holdings Limited E# R ER A A
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Being a facade and curtain wall work solutions provider
in Hong Kong, the Group recognises the importance of
professionalism and competence of its staff. The main
objective of training and development in the Group is to
help develop key competencies which enable individuals to
perform current or future jobs successfully.

The training and development programmes will be geared
towards the following objectives:

- strengthening the job skills/knowledge of employees;

- improving operational efficiency and productivity; and/
or

- developing the potential of employees for maximizing
mutual benefit to individuals and the Group.

Types of training or development activities conducted

- employee-initiated training/development activities
may include external programmes that are organized
by external training institutes, or by the Group; and

- employer-initiated programmes may take the form of
offering sponsorship for employees to attend external
programmes or organising such programmes in-house.
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During the Reporting period, the Group made full use of
internal resource to organise various forms of training
covering management, customers service, financial, etc. to
the employees.

RBEHE AEEXDMARNITE
R-REEENRER BEFRE M
BEEHANSBEAEZI -

Male Female
% of employees trained ZHEEES R kegi:
Key management TEEEE 50% N/A i A
Back office ®’a 3% 10%
Front line operation unit AR TG B L 6% 0%
Average hours completed BEREEERZIN Male Female
per employee TR E2R s eg
Key management TEERE 9 hours /N F¥ N/AZ i A
Back office 3= 1 hour /) B 12 hours/)\ B
Front line operation unit AIAR TG B L 13 hours/|\ ¥ 0 hour/|\ B

B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group fully understands that the exploitation of child
and forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore
takes the responsibility against child and forced labour very
seriously. The Group prohibits any child and forced labour
in its operations. A system of comprehensive recruitment
processes is established requiring background checks
to be conducted on candidates and formalised reporting
procedures to address any exceptions found. The Group
also performs regular reviews and inspections to detect the
existence of any child or forced labour in the operations.
At the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging vendors
of administrative supplies and services and contractors
that are known to employ child or forced labour in their
operations.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to preventing child or forced labour on
the Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported
in the Reporting Period.
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B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of
fabricated products, aluminium and steel, glass, installation
work and design services for construction projects.

The Group believes that the quality of its products and
services as well as its reputation will be influenced by
the work with its suppliers. Therefore, the Group has
established procurement policy to maintain high level of
ethical standards for choosing the right supplier through
careful selection and continuous measurement. The Group
conducts review on key suppliers annually so as to provide
an opportunity to suppliers to enhance their services and
products quality, which improves both the suppliers and our
procurement management effectively.

In selecting new suppliers, the Group compares at least
three different companies, keeps environmentally preferable
products and services as an important indicator and
emphasises the legal compliance and integrity culture of
suppliers’ operations, beyond cost considerations. On-
site inspections and research are conducted before the
commencement of business with suppliers, and there are no
child labour or forced labour issues. The examination and
evaluation results will be used as the basis for continuation
or termination of cooperation in the future. The ESG
committee would monitor the status of environmentally
preferable products and services and report to the Board.

As of 31 March 2021, the Group is engaged with 96 material
suppliers and 21 subcontractors. Our Executive Directors,
Procurement department and Quantity Surveyor team work
together to monitor the performance and quality of our
suppliers and subcontractors.

The number of suppliers/subcontractors by geographical
region are as follow:
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of our products and services.
Strenuous efforts are made to ensure compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations relating to product
health and safety, intellectual property rights, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters of the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates. The Group’s code of conduct requires
its employees to comply with applicable governmental and
regulatory laws, rules, codes and regulations.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, intellectual property
rights, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to services provided and methods of redress during the
Reporting Period. The Group has in-house rules governing
the work procedures for the projects in order to ensure
work quality. The Group considers that the quality of works
generally depends on the quality of building materials
supplied and installation works performed by subcontractors
at construction sites, which in turn are generally controlled by
the Group’s quality control measures on suppliers, including:
(i) ensuring sufficient planning prior to executing the project
to ensure that quality control measures and procedures are
in place; (i) maintaining a list of approved suppliers and
only engaging those on the list; and (iii) conducting sample
inspections on building materials supplied based on the
technical specifications of the relevant projects. Building
materials that are defective or do not meet the specifications
will be returned to the suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, our Group did not receive any
material complaint or demand for any kind of compensation
from the customers, or recalls for safety and health reasons
in relation to the products and services.
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited.
The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out standards of
conduct to which all employees are required to adhere in
order to promote the integrity of the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
ICAC seminars available to all Hong Kong staff on
anti-corruption have been conducted. In addition, unless
with prior approval from senior management, employees
should not give or accept any gifts, gratuities, favours or
benefits that are beyond common courtesies with accepted
business practices or any excessive entertainment.
Breaches are subject to disciplinary actions, including the
termination of employment contracts where necessary.

We aim to maintain the highest standards of openness,
uprightness and accountability and all our staff are
expected to observe the highest standards of ethical,
personal and professional conduct. We do not tolerate
corruption, bribery, extortion, money-laundering and other
fraudulent activities in connection with any of our business
operations.

The Group adopted a whistle-blowing system for reporting
any improprieties in financial reporting, internal control,
suspected or actual fraud or other matters. Whistleblower
can drop an email directly to the Audit Committee. If they
prefer, they can choose to use an anonymous email address
to report the matters.

The chairman of the Audit Committee can call for a meeting
with the Board to investigate the reported matters.

The Board may also decide whether the Group needs to
appoint an external consultant (including professional
parties, ICAC or police, etc.) to deal with the reported
matters.
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The Group is not aware of any potential or confirmed
cases regarding corruption practices brought against
the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
No whistleblowing disclosures were received during the
Reporting Period. The Group is not aware of any non-
compliant with relevant law and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion,

fraud and money laundering.

B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is constantly aware of the needs of the community
and is ready to try its best to contribute to the community
by participating in and sponsoring community activities.

In addition, the Group encourages and supports its staff to

participate in volunteer services at the leisure times.

Polyfair Holdings Limited E# R ER A A

s R - AN E I A AL S
BAEEKEBRREOMNELEXCHE
REGHEE - BEREANERER
BEE - AKBALTMEBEMATEST
B R HFERAREGRIAL
BAREAEERYENHBEIRLX
REIB UL

B8t B iR &
AEB-BHEIHEES  FOEHT
EEEBREARENHBEHBNE
Bt @ o

AN AEBEZBEXFBFET NI
R4 & & TIR7S -



The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Since 2006,
the Group has mainly engaged as a subcontractor that provides
facade and curtain wall works solutions in Hong Kong. Details
of the principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31
March 2021 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. The Group’s revenue for the year
was derived mainly from activities carried out in Hong Kong. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021, assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred subsequent to the end of the year as
well as indication of likely future development in the business
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition, the
Group’s environmental policy, compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact of the Group and key
relationships with its stakeholders are set out in this Directors’
Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 155
of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 80 of this annual report
respectively.

Directors’ Report
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EEEHRE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$15,666,000. Such amount represented share premium net of
accumulated losses of the Company, which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year in the ordinary course of business are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transaction between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company had been entered
into or are ongoing for which relevant announcement, if necessary,
had been made by the Company in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2021, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and two companies
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam or his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and Polykind Far East
Limited), had pledged their properties to secure banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within the Group for nil
consideration.

Pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, such transaction
is exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the requirements in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the above
financial assistance received.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statement
constitutes connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which became
unconditional and effect on the Listing Date. Particulars of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. No share option has
been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing
Date, nor was there any share option outstanding, exercised
cancelled or lapsed as at the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no rights to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of the Company have been granted to or exercised by
any Directors or their associates since the effective date of the
Share Option Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2017, 2018, 2019,
2020 and 2021, is set out on page 156 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah
Mr. Man Yun Yee
Mr. Wong Chi Yung

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Wong Kam
Man (executive Director) and Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (independent
non-executive Director) shall retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) were
appointed for a specific term of three years and subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company did not enter
into or have any management and administration contracts in
respect of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, or in which a Director or its connected entities had a
material interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisted at the
end of the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESSES

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective close associates (not being the INEDs) are considered
to have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and every one of them
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty
in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Reporting Period which provides
appropriate cover for legal actions brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates in Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and/
or short positions which they are deemed or taken to have under
such provisions of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:

(@) Interests in shares of the Company
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Note: 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings M 5E -

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow”) as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as
to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the
600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each of
Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded as
a Controlling Shareholder.
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corporation of the Company

Name of associated

Percentage of
shareholding in
Number of the associated

corporation Name of Director Capacity Long/short Position shares held corporation
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C.N.Y. Holdings Limited ~ Mr. Chow Mo Lam Beneficial Owner  Long position 83 shares Mot 83%
XBZERERAA B St ERBEAA e 83 A ¥

C.N.Y. Holdings Limited ~ Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen Beneficial Owner  Long position 17 shares Mot 7%
KBERERAA RURTHE EREAA A 178 R A

Note: 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings MgsE: 600,000,000 DA KEBZERE

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow”) as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as
to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the
600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each of
Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded as
a Controlling Shareholder.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company or
their respective associates had any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares, convertible notes
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as at 31
March 2021.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” in this report, as at 31 March 2021, so far
as was known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company,
the interests which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or of whom were deemed to be directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued capital of
the Company, or which were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or have been
notified to the Company were as follows:
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Percentage of

Number of shareholding in

Name of Shareholders Capacity Long/short Position Shares held the Company

RARTH

BREB HH 540 HR KRR FrsRaBE REBDL

C.N.Y. Holdings Limited  Beneficial owner Nete V) Long position 600,000,000 Mote 1) 75%
KBEREBRAF BEmER A=Y o) 600,000,000 4%
i 5 (F )

Ms. Hau Pak Sui Interest of spouse M2 | ong position 600,000,000 Mote 75%
FEEEL+ A2 48 2D o & 600,000,000
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Notes: M 5
1. 600,000,000 Shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a 1. 600,000,000% f% 1 B3 7k BB = iR B BR A A

company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow”) as to 83% and by
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr.
Yu are executive Directors. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed
to be interested in the 600,000,000 Shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited. Each of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is
regarded as a Controlling Shareholder.
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2. Ms. Hau Pak Sui is the spouse of Mr. Chow and she is deemed to be
interested in the 600,000,000 Shares, in which Mr. Chow is deemed
interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 March 2021, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the share capital of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with
the exception of granting of share options to subscribe for Shares
under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save for those as disclosed in the above paragraph under
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option
Scheme” in this Directors’ Report, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable to the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.
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NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders, namely C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 25
January 2018 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out in
the Prospectus. The Company received a declaration from the
Controlling Shareholders in writing that each of the Controlling
Shareholders had complied with the terms of the Deed, including
all undertakings given by them in favour of the Company under
the Deed, during the year ended 31 March 2021. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the declaration and were
satisfied that the terms of the Deed had been duly complied with
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board had not received
any written confirmation from any of the Directors and the
Company’s controlling shareholders in respect of interest in any
business (other than the Group) which is or is likely to be directly
or indirectly in competition with our business.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the Reporting
Period, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers and the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 90% and 52% of the Group’s sales and purchases
respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s largest customer and the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were approximately
49% and 22% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.
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None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the period from the
Listing Date to 31 March 2021.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 98 (2020: 87) employees.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
formulated by the Remuneration Committee based on their
merit, qualifications and competence. It is the Group’s policy to
compensate each employee fairly and equitably. The Group has
a system for measuring employees’ performance against agreed-
upon goals with specific performance standards. Performance
discussion is carried out on an ongoing basis and a formal
evaluation is conducted once a year to review employees’ overall
performance, achievements, and areas in need of improvement.
Salary review will be based on individual performance and subject
to the Group’s discretion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 36 of this annual
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

As a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to certain
environmental requirements in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include,
among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

We require our subcontractors to be in strict legal compliance
with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations
during the whole term of engagement. During the year ended 31
March 2021, the Group did not receive notice of any environmental
non-compliance in Hong Kong addressed either to the Group or to
our subcontractors.

Discussions on the environmental policies and performance,
compliance by the Group with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group and the account of
key relationships between the Group and our stakeholders are
contained in the ESG Report on pages 37 to 58 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

The change in the information of the Director of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the
Listing Rules is set out below:

1. Mr. Wong Chi Yung, the independent non-executive Director
of the Company, appointed as a non-executive director and
chairman of BCIl Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8412)
on 1 March 2021. He also resigned as vice president of INCU
Corporate Finance Limited with effect from 30 April 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.60A(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and this
report, with the external auditor. There were no disagreements
from the auditor of the Company or the Audit Committee in respect
of the accounting policies adopted by the Company.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by the Company’s
auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited which will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHOW MO LAM
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 22 June 2021

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

B EHHRAFE1750AMNEBEFRENRA
RIEEEHEFHHINMT:

1. ARARBIFPTEFTIEBRER
2021 F3R1HEZEASMEEAR
AR R 8412) M EHITES
MERF o 82021548308 # » HINE
FOTFCEREGRAFBEEH -

BREXHEREEIN  MEAMERRE L
MR A E1750AN KA TRE -

EREES

EZZEgCRASEEEERNASE
FRER ) & 5t R B R 1B Bl - 30 B2 SN BE 4% %
MEmEZ NHEERMBRREE 2
EEMEE2021F3A3NB L FENEEZ
REMBHRRREARE - ARAAZ S
LEREZESHRNRRIFEMO SR
W AR RF -

A

BBERREAEARANEZBMTERES
AR EBAERARESRZ  PELRESS
Bh BT PE R AR HRARE EERRBSF
ReLERE BRAERYUMBESE -

RREEE

FERANTEF
B

EFB 0 20216 H22H

Annual Report 2021 ZZE = —F £}

71



72

Independent Auditor’s Report
8 M 2% B R

th;C

i) B 7
ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Polyfair
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 77 to 155, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Revenue and profit recognition of construction
service and contract assets

Refer to Note 7 and Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s carrying value of the contract assets balances as well
as the revenue and profit recognised are based on estimates of
costs to complete. These estimates are significant to our audit
because the contract assets of HK$120,650,000 as at 31 March
2021 and the construction services revenue of HK$299,995,000
for the year then ended are material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s estimates involve application
of judgement and can be affected by a variety of uncertainties
that depend on the outcome of future events resulting in revisions
throughout the contract period.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Evaluating the Group’s estimation process;

- Agreeing contract sums and budgeted costs to signed
contracts and approved budgets;

- Challenging the reasonableness of key judgements and
assumptions inherent in the approved budgets;

- Assessing the reliability of the approved budgets by
comparing the actual outcome against estimates; and

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the related calculations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We consider that the Group’s estimates of the contract assets
balance as well as the revenue and profit recognised are
supported by the available evidence.

Trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to Note 20 and Note 21 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Group tested the amounts of trade receivables and contract
assets for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balances of trade receivables and contract
assets of HK$29,837,000 and HK$120,650,000 respectively, as
at 31 March 2021 are material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
- Assessing ageing of the trade receivables;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements; and

- Testing subsequent contract work certification and
settlement of contract assets and receivables respectively

after the end of the reporting period on a sample basis.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables
and contract assets is supported by the available evidence.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's

website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/
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standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374
Hong Kong, 22 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

REeEBEREMEEEBARX

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B ZE2021F3A31BIEFE
2021 2020
20215 20204
NOTES HK$°000 HK$000
B = THERT FHETT
Revenue W &= 7 299,995 229,809
Cost of services BR 75 BX 7R (284,833) (212,292)
Gross profit ¥ 15,162 17,517
Interest revenue NN ON 110 181
Other income, gains and losses HEalg A Wz K EE 8 1,915 282
Impairment losses under expected EHEEBEEXNTH
credit loss model, net of reversal BB & 18 (F0BR B E) 9 (334) (622)
Administrative expenses THRXZ (9,809) (11,209)
Profit from operation REFRBER 7,044 6,149
Finance costs A& B A 10 (4,103) (5,557)
Profit before tax BR Bt Al & 7 2,941 592
Income tax (expenses)/credit FriEfR(Fx), H® 11 (1,002) 2,477
Profit for the year F XA 12 1,939 3,069
Other comprehensive expenses RBEHEHMEZEEX:
after tax:
Items that may be reclassified to AREFHITBREEEN
profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences on translating &G INE S FFE £ 8
foreign operations PEHERE (2) (30)
Other comprehensive income FRAHEMZEEKA
for the year, net of tax =Eik:) (2) (30)
Total comprehensive income FREEWABLE
for the year 1,937 3,039
Earnings per share BREF 15
Basic (HK cents) EARCGEN) 0.24 0.38
Diluted (HK cents) w58 OBl 0.24 0.38
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE AR R X
As at 31 March 2021
R202143H31H

2021 2020
20214 20204F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
M & TET FH& T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERFZ 16 472 890
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 3,311 1,366
Financial assets at fair value through & Q2 FEFAE
profit or loss TR EE 18 9,828 10,360
Deferred tax assets RIERIBEE 19 851 756
Deposit birdea 22 3,200 =
17,662 13,372
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables 2 5 IR 20 29,837 14,930
Contract assets BREE 21 120,650 115,569
Prepayments, deposits and other TENHIE ZE2 &
receivables E b e I8 22 3,734 5,142
Tax recoverable A U [B] 7 18 - 1,019
Pledged bank balances EERIRITHE R 23 27,380 32,313
Bank balances and cash WITHEBR LB S 23 10,623 8,099
192,224 177,072
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H b & 5k IE 25 42,152 28,335
Tax payable FE - 7 18 34 10
Bank borrowings HITIE R 26 98,039 96,268
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 1,649 1,428
141,874 126,041
Net current assets RBEEFE 50,350 51,031
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAEMR 68,012 64,403
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 1,672 =
Net assets BEERE 66,340 64,403
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBMRRE
As at 31 March 2021
R202143A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
ihg=2 FET FAT
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital & A 28 8,000 8,000
Reserves & 29 58,340 56,403
Total equity R 66,340 64,403

The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 155 were
approved and authorised for issue by Board of Directors on 22
June 2021 and are signed on behalf of by:

Chow Mo Lam
A= %
Director

EF

FITESCEMNGEAUBRRNILCEETER
20216228 #L/E R T W & T A=
ERREZ:

Yu Lap On Stephen
RYZ
Director

EBEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEZBER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31B L EE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREHEBAERL
Share Share Other Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total
REx  RoEE HttFEE BERE KRIEA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETL THAL THETL THETL THAL THETL
(Note)
(Bt &)
At 1 April 2019 2019 4R 1H 8,000 37915 3,000 42 12,407 61,364
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ FREEFAR)/
income for the year ON+- - - - (30) 3,069 3,039
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 12 15,476 64,403
At 1 April 2020 R2020%4A1H 8,000 37,915 3,000 12 15,476 64,403
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ FRzEEY)/
income for the year LNt - - - (2) 1,939 1,937
At 31 March 2021 20214 3A31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 10 17,415 66,340
Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share Mizr: Ha@FBEEARRETERRBEERRE

capital of the Company issued as consideration of acquiring

Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”)

and issued share capital of Polyfair HK pursuant to a group

reorganisation completed on 19 January 2018.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REBRENRE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31BILFE
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHNERERE
Profit before taxation B Bt A & Al 2,941 592
Adjustment for: FTFIEE A A2 -
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERZETE
equipment 497 534
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 1,701 1,873
Fair value loss/(gain) on payments for life }\?1% R R BN R
insurance policies AFEEEBER,(WE) 532 (337)
Finance costs Bl & pk A 4,103 5,557
Interest income B A (110) (181)
Impairment losses under expected credit EHEEBEEXNTH
loss model, net of reversal B 18 & 18 (F0BR & [2) 334 622
Operating profit before working capital LEECEHAMNLE
changes Vi A 9,998 8,660
Change in trade receivables B 5 e s I8 & ) (15,062) 8,632
Change in prepayments, deposits and other ~ FEFIE » K& K Hib
receivables JIE W 5K I8 &) (1,777) (2,080)
Change in contract assets BEHEESR (5,269) (11,565)
Change in trade and other payables B RHEMEBEMNKIEES 13,760 (4,046)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations (Bf),/ER&EHMER 1,650 (399)
Income taxes (paid)/refund B,/ (FrE)R& (54) 2,337
Net cash generated from operating RETBHRBERELFR
activities 1,596 1,938
Cash flows from investing activities REFTHMEBHEERE
Interest received 2 Y F B 110 181
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERZHE (72) (62)
Withdrawal of pledged bank balances TR B E & 1 IR 17 45 R 5,040 -
Placement of pledged bank balances FABE HIRITHE & (107) (172)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing R &EEE S (FTA)
activities REeEFHR 4,971 (53)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= S= =L
mEBRERE
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$’000 HK$°000
TET FH& T
Cash flows from financing activities METDRERERE
Interest paid B B (4,103) (5,557)
New bank borrowings raised IR 1718 N 203,369 462,043
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBITER (201,598) (463,138)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (1,753) (1,864)
Net cash used in financing activities RETHMARES TR (4,085) (8,516)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRBSEEYEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R)#8 2,482 (6,631)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEBEEFE BB 42 ©61)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FINEESRESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 8,099 14,791
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRONRERESEEY
END OF THE YEAR 10,623 8,099
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents HeRESEBYIW
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MR 10,623 8,099
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2017 and its shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Stock Exchange”) on 23 February 2018. Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is C.N.Y. Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI”). The registered office of the Company is located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at Unit 1206-7, 12th Floor, Fortress
Tower, 250 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) are provision of design
and project management services for facade and installation
of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2020. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (*HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise their judgements in the process of applying
the accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4 to these consolidated
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary; and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

CREE E R

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (HK$), which is the Company’s functional and

presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)
() Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements  Over shorter of the lease terms
or useful lives of 5 years

Furniture and office 20%
equipment

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

- Land and buildings 1-8 years
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined,
or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the statement of financial position when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.

Investments at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost and
contract assets. ECL are the weighted average of credit
losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to the ECL that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime ECL”)
for trade receivables and contract assets, or if the credit
risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than trade receivables and
contract assets) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime ECL that represents the ECL that result from default
events on that financial instrument that are possible within
12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance
at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest

method.

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for
those employees who are eligible to participate in
the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

3.
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of productions processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAE®:iHE(HE)

(continued)
Related parties BE AL
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the MEATEREEARNEEEFBENEA
Group. HEE -
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is (@) MWRAETIER  Bl—8 ALK
related to the Group if that person: ZEAATHEREAREEEH
JE
() has control or joint control over the Group; () HAKEHEHIESKFER
18 1l 2
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HEAEEBEEAXEN X
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel (i) BARFHRARA AT
of the Company or of a parent of the Company. FEBFEBAE o
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) HEETIEMESE  B—EE
conditions applies: FEER R B A B
()  The entity and the Company are members of () ZEBEKARABER—%E
the same group (which means that each parent, BB AR (BNEE QA -
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the NGNS =N
others). BEE@E) -
(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the i) —HEERE—EBME
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a ERAHEEREEARE
member of a group of which the other entity is a —SBEHNXEATNHE R
member). Rl EERE  MzE—E
BALEBHKERATR) -
(iiiy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) WMEEBEHAEBARE=ZF
party. e &R
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and vy —HERBAE—F=7%&
the other entity is an associate of the third entity. EELE ME—EBR
ZE=ZFREE QA o
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for v) ZEBDAASKENER
the benefit of employees of either the Group or SEEHENERNES
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is & ) T 5% B Bl B 18 48 A 5
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are 2o MAKRBEARFEAAE
also related to the Group. Bt E - ANErElheEx

MEXSERRHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets except investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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4. KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Revenue and profit recognition

The Group estimated the percentage of completion
of the construction contracts by reference to the
proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date to the estimated total costs for
the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the
Group is different from the amounts that were initially
budgeted, such differences will impact the revenue
and profit or loss recognised in the period in which
such determination is made. Budget cost of each
project will be reviewed periodically and revised
accordingly where significant variances are noted
during the revision.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability
of the trade and other receivables and contract
assets, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each debtor. Impairments
arise where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
actual result is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of the
trade and other receivables and loan receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which
such estimate has been changed. If the financial
conditions of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting
in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group has financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$9,828,000 (2020: HK$10,360,000)
which are denominated in US$. As HK$ is pegged to
US$, the directors of the Company consider that the
currency risk of US$ is insignificant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis for US$ is presented.

The Group also has certain transactions denominated
in RMB, but the directors of the Company consider
such exposure is not significant to the consolidated
financial statements and hence no sensitivity analysis
for RMB is presented.

5.
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is

the carrying amount of these assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

5.

& B B B E ()
(b) EERER

REBERER S H FR2021F3H
31H K 2020F3A31H K && & 17
HERSECEReMEENE
ERFARENGREERR - &
ZEEENRE BT RN

SR AREE -

REBERAERE S R T AR
BREATHER:

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial
credit rating Description contract assets assets
E5RKHE
WEBEEFR Bl BREE HthemEE
Strong The counter-party is either listed company or  Lifetime ECL — 12 months ECL
subsidiary under listed parent holding company  not credit-impaired (*12m ECL”)
with strong financial background based on
published financial information publicly available
in the market, creditability and with debt balance
past due within 01 year, and is aged within its
historical settlement pattern. The debtor has very
low probability of default.
58 5 RHGUFAGR—BLETARGZRHBR —HLE 2HEHEEESE - REAEHGESSE
MERSARNNERR  RETSAREERYN UEHREERE (M2EREHEE
FBER MBEESEE GERY  BHAH Bl
BHTE—FR RRFABEFEERN - B
ANERHREEEE
Good The counter-party is a private company with  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
debt balance past due within 0-1 year, and is not credit-impaired
aged within its historical settlement pattern. The
debtor has low probability of default.
Rf RZEFR—BAUALA  ERAEHRENTE—- 2HHHEEFE - V2EARBEEER
FRREFABEHEEERS - BRAENTRE TELRBRESRE

HE -
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mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

5.

HZE2021F3A3MBLEEE

& B B B E ()
(b) =& &k (&)

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial

credit rating Description contract assets assets
E5RKHE

RBEEFR Bl BREE HthemEE

Satisfactory The counter-party is a either listed company or  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -

mE
Watch list
iR E
Loss
&8
Write-off
i 85

subsidiary under listed parent holding company
with strong financial background based on
published financial information publicly available
in the market, creditability and with debt balance
past due within 1-2 years. The debtor frequently
repays after due dates and the balance often
aged beyond its historical settlement pattern.
The probability of default is moderate.
RGUFAGE-—BEMRAASEREN —H L
MERSARCMBERF - RIETH QMR
HBEMN MBEEREE EERE EHEAR
BH—ZEMFEAN - BEHEALERINHAERER
BERRRETBABEAEES - BOFRMER
o

The counter-party is a private company with debt
balance past due more than 1 year. The debtor
frequently repays after due dates and the balance
often aged beyond its historical settlement
pattern. The probability of default is concern.
RHGUFR-BLARE  BEHERBH —FINK
F-BEBARERIBMARET  ARERET
HBABEAERS - BEOARMESART -

The counter-party has debt balance past due
for more than 2 years and there is evidence
indicating the debtor is credit-impaired. The
probability of default is high.
ROGUFNEBERBAREN L TERRE
RNEBABLREERE - BOFA8NS -

There is evidence indicating that the counter-
party is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
FREBERRZUTFREAREN N  AEET &
e EOET: -

not credit-impaired

2HRAEEEBE -
TERLAREERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

2HRAEEEBE -
TERLAREERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

EHRHEEER -

BEHBREERE

Amount is written off

S REEMHE

not credit-impaired

2HRAEEEBE -
TELAREERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

2HRAEEEBE -
TELAREERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

EHRHBEEER -

BEHBREERE

Amount is written off

S REEMHE
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group
reviews the recoverable amount of trade receivables
and contract assets at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the Group
applies the simplified approach on trade receivables
and contract assets to provide for ECL model, which
permits the use of the lifetime impairment allowance
for trade receivables and contract assets. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has concentration
of credit risk on trade receivables amounting to
HK$6,909,000 (2020: HK$5,916,000), representing
approximately 23% of the trade receivables (2020:
40%), due from a single customer (2020: a single
customer). As at 31 March 2021, trade receivables
from the five customers with the most significant
balances amounted to HK$23,463,000 (2020:
HK$11,821,000) representing approximately 79%
(2020: 79%) of the total trade receivables.

In determining the ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets, the management of the Group has
taken into account the historical default experience
and the future prospect of the industries and/or
considering various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information, as appropriate, in
estimating the probability of default of each of the
trade receivables and contract assets occurring within
their respective loss assessment time horizon, as well
as the loss upon default in each case.
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B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

& B B B E ()
(b) =& &k (&)

EZRUREBEREGNEE
(&)

THRINKBZEBRAERENE
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T3 720219 3A31H 2020
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The table below provides information about the
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets which are assessed individually
based on internal credit rating as at 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2020 within lifetime ECL.

iy o
Gross carrying amount Impairment losses
REAE HEEE
Average Trade  Contract Trade  Contract
Internal credit rating loss rate receivables assets Total receivables assets Total
¥  EEYR ESER

AHEERR BEE RE  ANEE A5t RE  ANEE A5t
% HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

As at 31 March 2021 R2021%3R318
Strong )] 0.39 16,977 67,863 84,840 56 275 331
Good RiF 2.02 12,519 45,747 58,266 253 925 1,178
Satisfactory ME 1.8 - 2,975 2,975 - 35 35
Watch list BIgE 5.27 706 5,575 6,281 56 275 331
Loss B 100.00 2,647 - 2,647 2,647 - 2,647
32,849 122,160 155,009 3,012 1,510 4,522

As at 31 March 2020 20204 3A318
Strong By 0.71 8,237 66,798 75,035 74 456 530
Good R 1.60 6,197 46,005 52,202 99 736 835
Satisfactory WE 2.87 - 3,589 3,589 - 108 108
Watch list BinE 5.31 706 499 1,205 37 27 64
Loss B# 100.00 2,647 - 2,647 2,647 - 2,647
17,787 116,891 134,678 2,857 1,322 4,179
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The ECL on trade receivables and contract assets are
estimated individually by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the
debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

A trade receivable and contract asset is written
off when there is information indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables
are over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier.
None of the trade receivables that have been written
off is subject to enforcement activities.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year in
assessing the loss allowances for the trade receivables
and contract assets. The individual assessment is
regularly reviewed by management of the Group to
ensure relevant information about the specific debtor
is updated.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. ®REREE(E)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK(HE)
Trade receivables and contract assets EZRUREBRENVNEE
(continued) (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime TRINERBEBOERE SRR
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables REERANZBMEREEE
under the simplified approach: BEE:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
Z2HANCEFE 2HAHGEFE
(WE|HBEERE) (EHBEEERE) M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 R2019%F4A1H 156 2,647 2,803
Reversal of impairment losses % [6] 5 {B /& 18 (135) - (135)
Impairment losses recognised B &2 5 B /& 12 189 = 189
At 31 March 2020 and 20203 H31H
1 April 2020 X 2020%4A18 210 2,647 2,857
Reversal of impairment losses  # [l 8 {& /& 18 (141) = (141)
Impairment losses recognised B MR EEIE 296 = 296
At 31 March 2021 20213 A31H 365 2,647 3,012
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mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for contract assets
(not credit impaired) individually assessed under the
simplified approach:

TRl AR EE(E)
(b) =& &k (&)

EZRUREBEREGNEE
(&)

TR IR B & LR 5 @ 5 5F
MHAKNEE (L ELREER
BE)EHIANHEHREESE

o
Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)
HEHEESRE
(Y EHBEERME)
HK$°000
FHET
At 1 April 2019 RK2019F4H1H 762
Reversal of impairment losses BOoBEEE (409)
Impairment losses recognised ERRRESRE 969
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 7202043 A31H K& 20204 A1H 1,322
Reversal of impairment losses B ORI E BB (344)
Impairment losses recognised EmRAEER 532
At 31 March 2021 202143H318 1,510

The major customers of the Group are certain
reputable organisations. The management of the
Group considers that the credit risk is limited in this
regard.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

For the pledged bank deposits and bank balances, no
impairment allowance was made since the directors
of the Company consider the probability of default
is negligible as such amounts are receivable from or
placed in banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

5. % EEkREE(E)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE B (&)
Deposits A
For deposits, no impairment allowance was made REEME AR ERLT A
since the directors of the Company consider the REFFHHBERREER
probability of default is minimal after assessing the BRBELANAI B2 ERE - B
counterparties’ financial background and creditability. W EGHE R E R -
Other receivables H{th fE W K IR
In respect of other receivables, the 12m ECL is H ib & U 5018 7R 20214F3 A31H
assessed individually as at 31 March 2021 and 31 202053 A318 1@ Bl # X121
March 2020 and the impairment allowance was BESEEEET G mMAEE
provided by the Group based on historical credit loss ERBEZERXIHFNAEEE
experience with these counterparties. BELEFT IR ERE -
As at 31 March 2021, 12m ECL of which HK$2,000 R2021%3A31H B # Bk @
(2020: HK$11,000) is recognised for not credit-impaired 45 4 £ B141,0007% 7t (2020
other receivables with an aggregate gross carrying £ : 260,000 JT) &) H fib & U
amount of HK$141,000 (2020: HK$260,000). X TE (K $12,0007% 7T (20204 :
11,0007 7T) I & H IR 15 B R E)
BR2EAEHREEERE -
The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL TERET B E At E Y RIBE R
that has been recognised for other receivables: WI2EAEMEEEEZS:
12m ECL
(not credit-impaired)
REREAHEEER
(¥ & HREERE)
HK$’000
THET
At 1 April 2019 M201954H18 3
Impairment loss recognised EERREERE 8
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 120205 3A31H &
202054 A1H 11
Reversal of impairment loss recognised BEEmREEEE 9)
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 2
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash
flow, of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

5. TREREEE)
) RBEZRMR

AEENRRSEHERRER
BERRSESHR  UERAE
BuanERnReRENENE

RN RBESFLK -

AEETREEERNARTRRS
MENIBADHAOT

Repayable on Between
demand or less 1and 2
than 1 year years Total
RERSN
1ERER 1-2% #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
At 31 March 2021 712021463 H31H
Trade and other payables B HAaENFRIE 32,839 3,535 36,374
Bank borrowings HRAT B 98,039 - 98,039
Lease liabilities HERE 1,743 1,700 3,443
132,621 5,235 137,856
Repayable on Between
demand or less 1 and 2
than 1 year years Total
RERsK
1FREE 1-24F Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAET
At 31 March 2020 72020563 A31H
Trade and other payables B 5 & E At B FIB 22,533 718 23,251
Bank borrowings HRAT fE K 96,268 = 96,268
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,449 - 1,449
120,250 718 120,968
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its pledged bank balances, bank balances and cash
and bank borrowings. These deposits and borrowings
bear interests at variable rates varied with the then
prevailing market condition.

The Group’s fixed-rate pledged bank deposits bear
interest at fixed interest rates and therefore are
subject to fair value interest rate risks.

At 31 March 2021, except for bank balances using 50
basis points (2020: 50 basis points), if interest rates
at that date had been 100 basis points lower with
all other variables held constant, consolidated profit
after tax for the year would have been HK$779,000
(2020: HK$764,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of
lower interest expense on bank and other borrowings.
Except for bank balances using 50 basis points (2020:
50 basis points), if interest rates had been 100 basis
points higher, with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have
been HK$779,000 (2020: HK$764,000) lower, arising
mainly as a result of higher interest expense on bank
and other borrowings.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

TRl EREEE)
(d) F=RER

A4 B R0 FU L 2 3
ARITES  RITRBURAS
REFTIER - REERRERE
BT 7R R 05 B 3

B o
1SN

AEBME SEEMRITERIR
BEEFRFE  MEQAFEFRK
N r8-2 -

20213 A318 » Bk £ A5S0ME
A 25 (20204 : 501@ & 2h) 19 iR
THHBIN MZBBABHFET
FRICOE M EHME =&
BRTE AFERERBER
F #5182 50779,0007% 7T (20204 :
764,0008 )  EEERAARR
TREMEENT BRI
B o BR {3 S0 ME £ 25 (20204 -
SO{E E 2h) M RIT & 82 50+ i F
EEFI00ESMAAHEMES
BETE AEERABRBESR
15 58 4779,0007% 7T (2020 4F :
764,0008 )  EEERAARR
TR EMBEENF SN
@( o
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. R ERERE(E)

(e) Categories of financial instruments e) €@ T EMEHR
2021 2020
202145 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F& T
Financial assets: EHMEE:
Financial assets at amortised BREHK AT ENESRHEE
cost (including cash and (BRERESRASEEY)
cash equivalents) 71,717 56,156
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAERN
through profit or loss THMEE 9,828 10,360
81,545 66,516
Financial liabilities: ERasE:
Financial liabilities at REHEKAGFENEREE
amortised cost 134,413 119,519
(f) Fair value f) A¥E

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(i) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

AT EE
RFEDEMSZ2EEZHEFER
ETNEFXSPHE-—HEEMK
HHERREE -—HABHATHE
o ATRAFEAERERANAF
BER BtEXFEMBAEERMN
WMABREBDR=EER:

£ BABE: AKERER
AESNHEREEXAR
RIERT IS RE CREH

) e
F-H BARE:FEMAAR
B ATEEXAEBRERN
EERRBEHAHE -
F=F BARE: BEEHLRENHT

AERRBAZRE -
AEENBRRINERNEENE K
BRAEHEARAE M =EERNE
AREL -

(i) 2FPEBREE

Fair value measurements using: NEEFEHER:
Level 3
B
HK$’000
TER
At 31 March 2021 R202143A31H
Recurring fair value measurements: KEERNFETE:
Payments for life insurance policies ASRBRENK 9,828
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(i) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy
(continued)

NP EFEGE)

(i) AFPERRHEEEHE

Fair value measurements using: ANFEFGFEHRA:
Level 3
F=H
HK$'000
FHET
At 31 March 2020 720203 H31H
Recurring fair value measurements: KEMAFEFE:
Payments for life insurance policies ASRERERM K 10,360

(i) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair
value based on level 3

(i) REE=MRAFETE

& EH Ik

Payments for life
insurance policies

ABRBREMSK
HK$'000
FHET
Description e

At 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H 10,023
Total gain recognised in profit or loss (#) B 18 % M 52 B9 B UL %5 (#) 337
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R2020%F3A31H K& 20204818 10,360
Total loss recognised in profit or loss (#) A 18 2 #E 72 1) 48 /85 18 (#) (532)
At 31 March 2021 M20219F3A31H 9,828
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

(#) Include gain or (loss) for assets (#)BIER & B R FH Y
held at end of reporting period BEMR S (EE) (532) 337
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair
value based on level 3 (continued)

The total gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at end of reporting
period are presented in other income, gain and (losses)
in the statement of profit or loss.

Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
3 fair value measurements. The financial
controller reports directly to the Board of Directors

level

for these fair value measurements. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the
financial controller and the Board of Directors at least
twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.
Key unobservable inputs used in fair value
measurements are as follow:

ARE IS R R M A
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

6. QFEFEGE)

(i)

(iii)

REF=-"MEAFEHTE
M & E 8 ik (&)

REDZERNE WD NER (B
ERBERRFENEEN RS
FEE)RNBERERAEMEA -
Wz k(BE)BTZ7 -

BEAEEFRRAGERF
RAFEFEFRRAMGER
T & A BB

AEEMBGREAERMBRE
PR EERBENAFER
E BREE=ZAXVEFE ¥
BREERAEEIERZETR
FEFE MBREREEESE
FELMARGERTRERE

S it aA
TR Em ©

IME=ZMRATVEFEMNS &A%
BATZREABRRBAIEEER
MR RaI R EEERE
TihME -

ATEHEFAERTIBES
ABIEDT -

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value Fair value
Description techniques inputs Range  for increase of inputs 2021
WAHEEM A¥E
it b {E & i TUBERRAYE gE HATENRE 20215
HK$°000
TER
Financial assets at fair value through Discounted Mortality rates 0.65%-100% Increase 9,828
profit or loss = Payments for life cashflow  RTZ £
insurance policies FRAEER Discount rates 0.47%-2.28%  Decrease
BRAFESABRENEREE R = "y
- AERBREAR
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- ABRBREEMNK

During the two years, there were no changes in the

valuation techniques used.

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received
and receivable from provision of construction services. An

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follow:

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE202143A31A L FE
6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. AV{EEE)
(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by (iii) HEAEBFFAGERRF
the Group and valuation techniques and RAFEFEMAGER
inputs used in fair value measurements fitt B iy A B0 4% (48)
(continued)
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value Fair value
Description techniques inputs Range  for increase of inputs 2020
BABEEM ATE
it fEE Rl TABRRARE #E HATENFE 20206
HK$'000
FTAET
Financial assets at fair value through Discounted Mortality rates 0.62%-100% Increase 10,360
profit or loss ~ Payments for life cash flow T Amg:< =0
insurance policies TRAER Discount rates 1.73%-2.02% Decrease
BATEAABRGENEREE = Vs

RMEFER - AAGERTL

mRE -
I 2% & o % &

WatERRHEEREME KR EKES
BORFE - ARENRZEIFTAT

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T FH& T
Construction services for residential MEEMHENEERS
properties 210,257 65,621
Construction services for commercial PEEYENE LR
properties 89,738 164,188
Revenue from contracts with customers REZF & LB UKz 299,995 229,809
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the
chief executive of the Group) reviews the overall results and
financial position of the Group, which are prepared based on
the same accounting policies set out in note 3. Accordingly,
the Group presents only one single operating segment and
no further analysis is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group’s
revenue are all derived from Hong Kong based on the
location of services delivered and the Group’s non-current
assets (excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets)
are substantially located in Hong Kong.

Timing of revenue recognition

All timing of revenue recognition is over time for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

& & 2 #HE R (&)

7 &b &
RERDERKRBAFGENS  TEL
BRREAAEBERSTBRAR)®R
AAEEEREERMBMRR  HTD
RIBHTEIE T MR ST B SRR
At - AEEEZ2 —FAE-—NKEE
DEE - WEZ T E—F M -

wEEH

15 48 42 44 PR 75 10 b B - 7 2 B 1) M 2
HREEE MAEEQERDEE
(ToFELREERETHIEBEEE)A
HARES - Fl L m2SF b EE
%

Wy 35 7 52 I

HE2021F N 2020FE3A31B IEFE -
iAW ERERES A —BRER -

Information about major customers EBEXEEZEFPNEH
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% REAN  EAREEBKZI0%K A £
or more of the Group’s total revenue during the year is as WEPZREMEWENT :
follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET Tt
Customer A ZFPA 6,232* 92,660
Customer B =FB 147,777 56,932
Customer C ®FC 33,828 50,558
Customer D =FD 43,258 =

B The corresponding revenue did not contribute over
10% of the total revenue of the Group.

O HEENEREYESANEEAK
m A R0% M £ o
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information (continued)
Construction service fee income

The Group provides design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall systems
to the customers. When the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligations of a construction
contract can be measured reasonably, revenue from the
contract and the contract costs are recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the percentage of contract costs incurred to date to the
estimated total contract costs for the contract. This method
provides the most reliable estimate of the percentage of
completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of a construction contract cannot
be measured reasonably, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that is expected to be
recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group
according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts. If the service rendered by the Group exceeds
the payments, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the service rendered, a contract liability is
recognised.

The contract price is allocated to the performance
obligations based on the relative stand-alone selling prices
of the performance obligations. The stand-alone selling
prices are determined by applying the expected cost plus a
margin approach.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMKA WaEkEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Exchange loss & 5 B 18 (428) (55)
Fair value (loss)/gain on payments ASRBRENKATE
for life insurance policies (B 8) e (532) 337
Government subsidy XA 188 B 2,750 -
Sundry income IR A 125 =
1,915 282
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 9. EHEEFEEXTHWRE
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BB (BRI E)
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT FHET
Impairment losses on trade receivables, & 5 & W 3% 8 B (E &5 18
net of reversal ($0 BR £ [B1) (155) (54)
Impairment losses on contract assets, BHEEREBESE
net of reversal (¥0 Bk & @) (188) (560)
Reversal of impairment losses/ H fth jE W IR BB B 1B
(impairment losses) on other BE,/CRE/BRE) -
receivables, net bk 9 (8)
(334) (622)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 5(b).

B R (B RY i B9 R 15 B MY 5E5(b) e
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. @& KA
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT FHET
Interest on bank borrowings and bank RITERRIRITEZF R
overdrafts 4,060 5,459
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 43 98
4,103 9,697
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT) 1. BHEX (ER)
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
THT FHET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BVEAFRIE - BANMEH
- Provision for the year - FAEE 90 -
- Under/(over)-provision in prior years -BAFERBTR S
(BEREME) 1,019 (2,342)
1,109 (2,342)
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax: BVEff{ 18 - B %
Fris i :
- Provision for the year - FAEHE - 12
— Over-provision in prior year - BEFEBRBERE (12) -
(12) 12
Deferred taxation (note 19) iR JE 18 (B 5E19) (95) (147)
1,002 (2,477)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT)
(continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Hong Kong Profit Tax has been provided at the rate of 8.25%
on assessable profits up to HK$2 million and 16.5% on any
part of assessable profit over HK$2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021. No provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax for the year ended 31 March 2020 has been made as
all assessable profits of the subsidiaries in Hong Kong are
offset by tax losses brought forward.

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law (fF 2 A R 2L 1
Bl 1 % AT 15 %4 %) and the Implementation of the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the PRC (1 # A R £ A1 B 1> 2 BT 15 B 0%
& HE151), an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise
(/NEUBF) 1 %) is subject to preferential tax treatments.
From 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021, a Small Low-
profit Enterprise with annual taxable income not more
than RMB1,000,000 is subject to Enterprise Income Tax
calculated at 25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%.
During both years, a subsidiary of the Group is eligible as a
Small Low-profit Enterprise and is subject to the relevant
preferential tax treatments. No provision for Enterprise
Income Tax for the year ended 31 March 2021 has been
made as the subsidiary did not generate any assessable
profits during that year.

11.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

s, (%) (&)

BEMBHFNEHE  GERKEEE
BE2EESTHaMNMNEREER
8.25% - #E #2A & B T 1Y i;m £ Bl 4%
16.5% B H o TR EMARBIFEHEE
1 H) B E R R TS E1R16.5%
BB — B RBF o

B E2021F3A31HILEFE  BEFE
BT R iE 25 B8 78 T A FE SR B )
R E8 2% E - MHBMA2E&EE T
B 1F fa] 3B 5 & SR s ) BI #2 B %16.5%
TE o ANEE202053831B IEEE
= A T R A B FT A e AR B s B A A
BHHEBEBEEY WUEREEF
SRR B -

RERPEA R MBI EFTERRE KT
FEAREME S EMBREE IR -
FaPBBANCEERNER]ZE
BEHREFB - R2019F1A818 B20214F
128318 - FEERTWATERA
K #1,000,0007T &9 /)N B 0 K| 1 26 2B 5t
HERR U A B925% 3% B R20% 5t &
TEMENR RBREFE A&E—
FM B ARG E /N MA ©EERLL
ZEHBEEEDFS BRZMEA
AIREE2021F3A831H I FEIW EE
EEMERT RN N ERZFE
TR EME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT) M. Fi8%iBxXx (E%)(E)

(continued)
FAMERASYEGEBEEREME

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to

the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

T A 3R B R T AT O R S R 0T

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Profit before taxation Fr Tt A & A 2,941 592
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax REBHGEBH X16.5%
rate at 16.5% AEHHRIE 485 98
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7~ 8] F1 %% B 3% H9 4 75 52 &
for tax purpose 460 450
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBMBANHR G 2E
for tax purpose (455) (57)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses RIERMETHIEEEL
not recognised 1% & " -
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B AL AR FER K F A
not previously recognised BEENMG 2 (458) (607)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFEEETIR
(BREEE) 1,007 (2,342)
Effect of different tax rates of MEBAR TR XM E
subsidiaries 51 (10)
Effect of two-tiered profits tax AR 15T A0 R E ) 2
rates regime (100) =
Others HAb 1 9)
Income tax expenses/(credit) FEHm (E%) 1,002 (2,477)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The staff costs were expensed in direct costs and
administrative expenses amounting to HK$36,795,000
(2020: HK$34,722,000) and HK$4,667,000 (2020:

HK$4,662,000) respectively.

GABBREMD
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A3NBIEFE
12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FAR%EA
2021 2020
2021F 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F& T
The Group’s profit for the year is stated 7% £ [B #) 4 R 35 F JH A
after charging the following: HBRATHIEEZT):
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) 2 =5 (BT 5E13) 5,824 5,704
Other staff costs: Hf B TRA:
Salaries and other benefits HE R EME A 34,144 32,122
Retirement benefit schemes R R AR F 5T 81 4 3K
contributions 1,494 1,658
Total staff costs* BT AREE 41,462 39,384
Auditor’s remuneration % B4 R Bl & 585 1,100
Depreciation of property, ME- - BMERZEITE
plant and equipment 497 534
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 1,701 1,873

BT AR E KA RITH A
R8s & %5 Rl A36,795,000
75 7T (20204F : 34,722,000/ 7T) &
4,667,00078 7T (20204 : 4,662,000
PETT) e
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AR BRAME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE
13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 13. EE - BEETHAERES
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS M <
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EERBRESETHRAEMS
emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief ENKENARGZEEREST
executive of the Company are as follows: BABWBM ST :
Performance
Salaries and Retirement
and other  discretionary scheme
Fee benefits bonus contributions Total
FER BAR RAREHE
ik Ht & F MEBEAL it @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TER TER TER TER
(note i) (note ii) (note iii)
(Ff £ 1) (s &Eii) (Bt i)
Executive directors UTES
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RURESE
("Mr. Yu) (TR%EED - 2,037 168 18 2,223
Mr. Chow Mo Lam BRMEE
(“Mr. Chow”) (MA%E]D - 1,527 126 - 1,653
Mr. Wong Kam Man BRNEE - 1,212 100 18 1,330

Independent non-executive ~ BYEHTEE

directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah REERT 206 - - - 206
Mr. Wong Chi Yung FEELRE 206 - - - 206
Mr. Man Yun Yee (note v) X 55 A (B ) 206 - - - 206
Total for 2021 20215 85t 618 4,776 394 36 5,824
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

13. EE5 - BREITHRAEBREES
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) & (&)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EERERSTHRAEMS
emoluments (Continued) (#&)
Performance
Salaries and Retirement
and other  discretionary scheme
Fee benefits bonus  contributions Total
ek BRK RIRETE
we H 48 7 WETEL 3 B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERL THAT THT THT THT
(note i) (note ii) (note iii)
(B &%) (P &Eii) (Bt i)
Executive directors BTEES
Mr. Yu REE - 2,016 168 18 2,202
Mr. Chow BAxE - 1,512 126 - 1,638
Mr. Wong Kam Man BWMNLE - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah HEEFL 195 = = = 195
Mr. Ng Ka Lok (note iv) RR G5 & (M FFiv) 128 = = = 128
Mr. Wong Chi Yung IEEESE 195 - - - 195
Mr. Man Yun Yee (note v) SR 52 5 A (B FE V) 28 = = = 28
Total for 2020 20204 5t 546 4,728 394 36 5,704
Notes: Bt 5% -
(i) The emoluments of independent non-executive (i) FTRBYIERTESTHNES

directors shown were for their services as directors of

the Company.

(ii) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the

Group. The emoluments of Mr. Yu were also for his

services in the capacity of chief executive officer.

R REEEARREEHMER
TR M2 -

(i) LEXATRHITEENME A5
BEEEARRARAEEER
PR LR RIS T XS B & -
RIEENME IR EIEETT
TR A8 AR P AR 4 8 BR 75 T S 1 &Y
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)  The discretionary bonus is determined with reference
to the operating results, individual performance and
market condition during the year.

(iv) Mr. Ng Ka Lok passed away on 25 November 2019.

(v) Mr. Man Yun Yee has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 12 February 2020.

During both years, no emolument was paid or payable
by the Group to any directors of the Company as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. There is no
arrangement under which a director has waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals include three (2020:
three) directors whose emoluments are presented in
the disclosures in (a) above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2020: two) individuals are as follows:

13

M= (&)

(a)

(b)

. EE-BEETRAERES
[

EERRBITHRAENE
(%)
i3k ()

(i) BBELD2ZFANKLER
B EARREDREE °

(iv) RREEAEN2019F11H25H
Bt o

(v) X HR%&4EB2020F2A812H
REZTAARNARBIENIT
BE o

RREFE AREHEQLAR
B {E (1] & 5 32 3 R A {E o] B
T ERMAIRINANE B
MEEREN S BEBI(E - IEEFW
RAEAEREEAMSOLHE -

BEME

EE&EeHALH - =4(2020
FZR)REFE EMEER
EX(@ABE - 8 % (2020
FMB)ALHOMES T

2021 2020

20214 20204F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET F& T

Salaries and other benefits HekEMEF 1,850 1,836

Performance and discretionary bonus 348 & By IS E4L 153 153
Retirement benefit schemes B RAE F 5T 814 3R

contributions 36 36

2,039 2,025
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

ARE IS R R M A
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

13. EE  BRETHAEREER

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) B < (4&)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEME (&)
Their emoluments are within the following bands: BESMHEELRT :
2021 2020
20215 20204F
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAH EEAH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 1,500,000/ JT 1 1
2 2

During both years, no emolument was paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

RREFE AREHBERDE
RRFALIXNEAME - ER
ARA BRI 0 A S £8 (8] B #O 22 B 2k

14. R E

HE2021F3A31H L EE - KA T
R+ 2k 3k ## R (F 7] B 8. (2020
FF)o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
is based on the following:

15. R A& F
SREARBERN B EATSE

S

Earnings 27
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Earnings for the purpose of calculating  BLETE &M% 2 AN K # 5%
basic and diluted earnings per share EFimE 8 EF 1,939 3,069
Number of shares g 4=
2021 2020
20214 20204
’000 000
T F &
Weighted average number of ordinary R EFRERNR#E
shares for the purpose of calculating AF M E T B K
basic and diluted earnings per share hn# ¥ 15 8 800,000 800,000
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

16. % - BERRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Total
HE#E BRARBARE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FET FHET
COST AR Z<
At 1 April 2019 MR2019F4H1H 828 1,287 2,115
Additions NE - 62 62
Exchange differences X =% - (17) (17)
At 31 March 2020 and R2020F3H31H &

1 April 2020 2020 4A1H 828 1,332 2,160
Additions NE - 72 72
Exchange differences ME N Z 5 = 21 21
At 31 March 2021 K2021F3A31H 828 1,425 2,253
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Rt E
At 1 April 2019 R2019F 4H1H 335 408 743
Charge for the year FEXH 269 265 534
Exchange differences ME 5 Z 5 - (7) )
At 31 March 2020 and 202063 H31H &

1 April 2020 2020F4H1H 604 666 1,270
Charge for the year FEX M 224 273 497
Exchange differences M W =5 - 14 14
At 31 March 2021 72021463 H31H 828 953 1,781
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 March 2021 R 2021F3A31H - 472 472
At 31 March 2020 M 202063 H31H 224 666 890
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N EYT
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Disclosure of lease-related items: HEMREIEER#E
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT FHET
At 31 March: MK3A31R :
Right-of-use assets EREEE
- Land and buildings - THREF 3,311 1,366
The maturity analysis, based on AEEHREABERE
undiscounted cash flows, of the RTFBRSTMIELR
Group’s lease liabilities is as follows: B BESTAT :
- Less than 1 year - 1R 1,743 1,449
- Between 1 and 2 years = 124 1,700 =
3,443 1,449
Year ended 31 March: HE3ANBILFEE:
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE
- Land and buildings - THREF 1,701 1,873
Lease interests HERER 43 98
Expenses related to short-term leases HAEERBERX 407 481
Total cash outflow for leases HER L ERE 2,203 2,443
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEFRHEEE 3,646 3,239
The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease AEBEEAZHETHWRETF - HE W
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 EBERIEIFWETEMEIL - H
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis ERRDRERNELEES  THED
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. B &2 BT R GERRIEG - HEH
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the I EEMNERRE  MEASEEED
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing SREERNERR -
purposes.
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

18. RAVEFTAESNEMEE

2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Financial assets at fair value through ERAFEFAERD
profit or loss TEEE
- Payments for life insurance policies - ASRBREMNK 9,828 10,360

The amount represents two life insurance policies entered
into by Polyfair HK in September 2017 (the “Policies”) for two
directors of the Company, namely Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu, which
changes in fair value are recognised through profit or loss.

Under the Policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is
Polyfair HK and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000.
Polyfair HK paid an upfront payment of US$623,822
(equivalent to HK$4,881,000) and US$471,857 (equivalent
to HK$3,692,000). Polyfair HK can terminate the policies at
any time and receive cash back based on the net nominal
account value of the Policies at the date of withdrawal,
which is the gross premium paid, plus accumulated interest
income less any deductions and the applicable surrender
charges made in accordance with the Policies. Polyfair HK
receives an interest income at variable rates, at which the
insurer guaranteed a minimum interest rates of 3.9% per
annum for the 1st to the 5th policy year and 2.25% per
annum for the rest of the policy years. Surrender charge is
payable if the Policies are terminated by Polyfair HK between
the 1st and the 15th policy year in accordance with the
Policies. The management expected that the Policies will be
held upon the expected lives of the two directors insured for
a period of 20 years.

The fair values of the Company’s life insurance policies at
31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on those dates by
Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer not related to the Group whose address
is Unit 1, 19/F, Remington Centre, 23 Hung To Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Details of the valuation are set
out in note 6.

AR BEEERER2017FIARAR
AMEBEES(AIEEERKRELE)FL
MmPASRERERE(TRE]) - EaF
BEEFHERBERER -

BERE ZZARREFBARE
BHB 0 #B1%R% A1,000,000E T °
BERBBE A KIE623,822F T
(18 & 7 4,881,000/ 7t ) & 471,857 J©
(48 & $743,692,000/8 7T) - BEE B A
BERF AR IEIREE - WIR BRR BB R IR A
HWEEEREFEKERERS  AEM
RE BTN REF B WA R A @R
BEBBERESMNNEARRFESR
MRS EREBUAERN K
BREKRA RBRARERFIEFS
BAREFENZEFFNERRION  H
BRREFER225% - HFREME R
EREF1EELEREFERKL -
ARBREAHNRRFEE - B
BEGEAMEIRESNEHRSS
20FHEFHBRE -

RATH NS RBIRERR 202143 A31
H}2020F3A31THMAFEIERA
HAEEMERENB L EEGER
THERFEERAR (it AR BN
BEEEGEB23% N E R OEIE)
RZEEBHETHHEEERE - GEF
1% B R BT 56 o
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FREMBHRRHE
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A3NRILFE
19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 19. EEMRIBEEE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised AEERANEZEEHIBEEEN
by the Group. T e
Impairment Accelerated
allowance for  depreciation
ECL allowance Total
HHEE
/&5 18 1R (B
BE MRFTERE et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FA T
At 1 April 2019 R2019F 4H1H 589 20 609
Credit to profit or loss (note 11) T A = (H5E11) 103 44 147
At 31 March 2020 and R2020F3 8318 &
1 April 2020 2020% 4 A1H 692 64 756
Credit to profit or loss (note 11) T AHE 2= (BT 5E11) 55 40 95
At 31 March 2021 R2021%F3831H 747 104 851
The Group has unused tax losses of HK$63,000 (2020: NE&H B K B) A T IE B $863,0007% 7T
HK$2,779,000) available for offsetting against future taxable (20204F : 2,779,000 7o) 7] FA 7 4K $5
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No ELEHEEIBN QR AR EZRH S
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the B o BB AR K TE R R A 8 A SRR - i
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit I A 3L R E) R A I8 B 18 T R IR RE A IR
streams. The tax loss of HK$63,000 will expire in 2024 to & EE - HTEE 863,000/ T iR 2024
2025. FE2026FEETR
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GABBREMD
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B E202143A31A L FEZ
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. ESEWRKIE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Trade receivables 2 5 e W E 32,849 17,787
Less: allowance for bad and doubtful B REREE
debts (3,012) (2,857)
29,837 14,930
The Group allows a credit period of 14 to 30 days to its AEBREHEIEEREREBZET
customers for construction works after the work is certified, 2R TEXFI4E0EMEES  #
except for several credit worthy customers to whom an ETEERINEFERRKRIEER
extended credit period would be granted. An ageing analysis BRAN - REREHIRE 5 B R IBR &
of the trade receivables, presented based on the invoice date BEAMELNEREK T
at the end of the reporting period, is as follows:
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
0—-30 days 0% 30H 16,534 13,652
31-90 days 31290H 12,652 609
Over 90 days 90R K E 651 669
29,837 14,930
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the REXEMFTEF 28 A& E 2T
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits HEEEPHNEEEZRYBER,N
by customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are FEREE AEESEHBRATLH

reviewed regularly. EERE -
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the management of the Group
closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and
the balance of past due 90 days or more of HK$651,000
(2020: HK$669,000) is not considered as in default based
on historical settlement pattern for those debtors and
continued business with the Group.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are
set out in note 5(b).

20. B 5 EWRIE(E)

R2021F3A31H AR EEEEZ )
ERBORBHKENEEREER - BER
ERAEEANBEEREAREARSE
EMFEEBBE  BH0R I £
H) 4% £2651,0007% 7T (20204 : 669,000
BIL) T HRBBELD -

BB S RN REFENFEH
R FE5() °

21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. EHEE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: WEWSEEBERE :

As at As at As at

31 March 31 March 1 April

2021 2020 2019

R202145F 20204 20194

3H31H 3H31H 4H1H

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TET THE T FB T

Contract assets — construction BHEE -BE 120,650 115,569 104,564
Contract receivables & #) e GR IR

(included in trade receivables) (GTAE S EWRE) 29,837 14,930 23,616

Based on the information available to the Group at the
end of each reporting period, the management of the
Group expects the transaction price allocated to the above
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) contracts in respect of
provision of construction services as at 31 March 2021 will
be recognised as revenue during the year ending 31 March
2022 to 2024 (2020: the year ended 31 March 2021 to 2023).
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mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 21. EHNEEE)
Significant changes in contract assets during the year: FAEHNEEMNERNE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTHET FHET
Increase due to operations in the year F R L L N 56,336 56,345
Decrease due to impairment of contract B & £ & E B & i & 4
assets (188) (560)
Transfer of contract assets to receivables & #°& & 8 % = e g 718 (51,067) (44.,780)
A contract asset represents the Group’s right to BREERASERASERNE,HE
consideration in exchange for products or services that the % E Sk AR5 i B (B B RE T o

Group has transferred to a customer.

Retention receivables relating to contracts in progress 202163A318  REE S N K E
of HK$34,651,000 (2020: HK$25,241,000) are included in I R B ©34,651,0007 T (20204 :
contract assets as at 31 March 2021. Retention monies will 25,241,000 TL) st AGH EE ° (RE
be released after completion of defect liability period of the DIRIEEE N R RIS E RS
relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified BHIBIBBEBEE N RER(BED
in the relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the ERETHAABET —EMF) ER
date of the issuance of the practical completion certificate. br o RELFMEMNEL LIEE MmTAK
Upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out % BREBEMEEMSELERET
in the contract, the architect for the building project will BEH o —MME - RELERRITER
issue a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon the % WEANIEMN —FRESHER
issuance of the practical completion certificate, half of the TALE @ MEL—FHERBREER
retention money of such contract work will be released to AR B L AR LITEA TR
the Group, while the remaining half will be released to the BREDEBEENIEERENTAER -
Group upon the issuance of the certificate at the end of & W 1R B8 & #924,286,0007% T (2020
defect liability period that identified defects in respect of the £ : 20,312,000 7T ) £.10,365,0007% 7T
entire building project have been made good. Approximately (20204F : 4,929,000 JT) A 7 Bl B —
HK$24,286,000 (2020: HK$20,312,000) and HK$10,365,000 FAX—FRIKD -

(2020: HK$4,929,000) of retention receivables are
recoverable within one year and after one year, respectively.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set EREHNEERBEHNFBH RN
out in note 5(b). #£5(b) ©
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

22.

23.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

22. ANRE RERHEMER

RECEIVABLES I8

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FA&TT
Prepayments T8 5 R IE 3,057 4,328
Rental and other deposits HeE R HEMZES 3,738 565
Other receivables H th jE W 5RIR 139 249
6,934 5142

Analysed as: DT
Current assets mBEE 3,734 5,142
Non-current assets (note) JEMEE E (M 5E) 3,200 -
6,934 5,142

Note: cash deposit of HK$3,200,000 was pledged to a third
party to secure a surety bond of HK$8,088,000 as
disclosed in note 31.

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables are disclosed in note 5(b).

PLEDGED BANK BALANCES/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits of HK$27,380,000 (2020:
HK$32,313,000) carry interest at prevailing market rate
ranging from 0.15% to 1.75% (2020: 0.01% to 1.9%) per
annum as at 31 March 2021.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

MfsE: 3£ 1F5%3,200,000/8 T2 HE
¥ 5 =75 LAE 1S B 5E31F
¥ 5= /) = M 4E 18,088,000
7TE °

Bk EMEERBRRER GFB
At FE5(0) B B -

23. CEARBRTES BITHER
kEE

MR2021F3H31H - EE W R T FE K
27,380,000 7T (20204F : 32,313,000
BT RBITM S FEFNENF015% %
1.75% (20204F : 0.01% %1.9%) 5+ 8 °
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24,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

PLEDGED BANK BALANCES/BANK 23. EE#RBITESK HRITER
BALANCES AND CASH (Continued) kKR (&)
At 31 March 2021, the pledged bank deposits of MR2021F3A318 + 27,380,000 T
HK27,380,000 (2020: HK$32,313,000) have been pledged (20204 : 32,313,000/ jT) M B & 1
to secure the bank loans of HK$83,991,000 (2020: RITFRESE R > 1F 483,991,000
HK$85,454,000) and bank overdrafts of HK$48,000 7t (20204 : 85,454,000 7T) ] 17 &
(2020: HK$7,914,000). In addition, included in the carrying M KX%48,0007% 7T (20204 : 7,914,000%
amount as at 31 March 2021 is HK$25,309,000 (2020: TO)IRITEXHER » thod - R20214
HK$25,224,000) which is also pledged to secure surety 3A31H #) AR H {E H* #925,309,0007% 7T
bonds of an aggregate balance of HK$13,175,000 (2020: (20204 : 25,224,000 7T) IREEH# -
HK$15,078,000) given by banks. Details of bank loans, bank ERBIRITIR At 48 458813,175,0008 7T
overdrafts and surety bonds please refer to notes 26 and 31. (20204F : 15,078,00058 7T) U EZ A HE R
MER - BABTER  RITBEXIK
EEERNFERS2HMFE26K3] -
Bank balances and cash comprise of cash on hand and RITERABcREFERS RH
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three PR 7ZA3ME Ak A TEy A B SR 1T 7 70
months or less, and carry interest at prevailing market rate %30 17 ™ 45 F 7 E£0.01% (20204 :
of 0.01% (2020: 0.01%) per annum. 0.01%) 5 & °
TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, BEEWMEE
The followings were the Group’s financial assets as at 31 T AAEER2021F3A310IEBIZ
March 2021 that were transferred to banks by factoring THEREERIEABE S E WA
relevant trade receivables of HK$10,439,000 (2020: 10,439,0007% 7T (20204 : 10,060,000
HK$10,060,000) on full recourse basis. As the Group has BIL)MEBRERTRITHESHEE - AR
not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating AEEWEKZERBKIBNIERHEE
to these receivables, it continues to recognise full carrying RERROHERE LAEBEIASH
amount of the financial assets and has recognised the cash BENZEREME WESEABEM
received on the transfer and included as secured bank loans. WRBeERLTABERRTE
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the HA - ZEeMEETHES MBI
consolidated statement of financial position. =N IR 5 A AR D B e
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Carrying amount of transferred assets BEEEEEMNEREAE 10,439 10,060
Carrying amount of associated liabilities B B & & &9 BR H (& (10,439) (10,060)
Net position F AR - -
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. EZ R HMEMNKIE

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Trade payables Z 5 RIE 26,809 17,114
Retention payables — amount payable EHREBE - AR —FNA

within one year W& 5,924 5,379
Retention payables — amount payable ERERE® - AR —F1&

after one year SRRkl 3,535 718

Accrued charges JEETE H 5,778 5,084

Other payables H th JE < 5018 106 40

42,152 28,335

The credit period granted to the Group by suppliers and
subcontractors is 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice

date at the end of the reporting period:

HEBEDBERGE TASENERY
RB0E60H - LTARARBERAR - &
HRENFAERERAHNRE DT -

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FH& T

0-30 days 0Z30H 17,865 13,897
31-60 days 31260H 1,912 2,209
61-90 days 61290H 3,308 825
Over 90 days 90H K E 3,724 183
Total 4Et 26,809 17,114
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26. BANK BORROWINGS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

Bt 35 AR MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

26. SRITHEK

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Bank loans RITER 97,991 88,354
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 48 7914
98,039 96,268
Carrying amount repayable based on R EH = ﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘l‘iﬂ
scheduled repayment dates set out in EBHEN
loan agreements: AEEBKREE:
- On demand or within one year - HBERKHI—FA 95,514 94,568
- More than one year, but not - —FUEEMER
exceeding two years 2,013 1,200
~ More than two years, but not -MENREERFR
exceeding five years 512 500
98,039 96,268
Less: Carrying amount of bank o IRREBEEERT
borrowings that are repayable on REXKEEXDE
demand or contain a repayment on RERERRRY
demand clause and shown under HRATE A AR E B
current liabilities (98,039) (96,268)
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

26. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

26. $R1TE (&)

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Variable-rate bank loans comprise: ZEBITEXB L
Secured bank loans (note (a)) BEEARARTE R (T ()
- HK$ bank loans at bank’s - RRTREBEERFE
lending prime rate (“Prime (T BEAMEX])R0.50%
Rate”) less 0.50% to 2.75% £ 2.75% ) F F E 5+ 8 1)
per annum BILIRITER - 8,321
— HK$ bank loans at Hong -REBRITEAERE
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (BEBRITRERSD
(“HIBOR”) plus 2.50% to 2.75% MN2.50% £ 2.75% (2020
(2020: HIBOR plus 2.50% to F:RBRITRAERLEM
3.25%) per annum 2.50% %= 3.25%) K & 7| &
FARMETRITER 83,991 77,133
83,991 85,454
Unsecured bank loans (note (b)) IR ITE R 5E(b)
- HK$ bank loans at HIBOR plus -REBRTRAERE
2.75% (2020: HIBOR plus 3.25%) hN2.75% (20204F : & 7%
per annum R 17 A X 9 8 IN3.25%) Y
FHERFRHBETRITER 10,000 2,900
- HK$ bank loans at Prime Rate - BEBENER2.25%
less 2.25% (2020: nil) per (20204F : =) By F FI| =
annum FTEMBITIRITE R 4,000 =
14,000 2,900
Secured bank overdrafts (note (a)) BEMIRITE (5 ()
~ HK$ bank overdrafts at Prime - BEEENERK.25%
Rate less 1.25% (2020: Prime (2020%F : ZXBEF ERF
Rate less 1.15% to 1.80%) per 1.15% £1.80%) Y F Fi) &
annum FFEMBITIRITEX 48 7,914
98,039 96,268
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, the HIBOR and
Prime Rate are quoted by the lending banks.

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 March 2021, the secured bank loans of
HK$83,991,000 (2020: HK$85,454,000) and bank overdrafts
of HK$48,000 (2020: HK$7,914,000) are secured by
the pledged bank deposits of HK$27,380,000 (2020:
HK$32,313,000), trade receivables of HK$10,439,000 (2020:
HK$10,060,000), contract assets of HK$14,612,000 (2020:
HK$13,898,000) on a full recourse basis, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of HK$9,828,000 (2020:
HK$10,360,000) and guaranteed by corporate guarantees of
the Company and a PRC subsidiary.

In addition to the pledge of assets and guarantee disclosed
above, included in the secured bank loans are bank loans
of HK$74,413,000 (2020: HK$76,710,000) which are also
secured by properties held by a director of the Company and
companies controlled by a director of the Company or his

close family members.

The secured bank loans carry effective interest rates ranging
from 2.65% to 2.90% (2020: 2.25% to 4.82%) per annum.
The bank overdrafts carry effective interest rate at 4.00%

(2020: 4.10% to 4.75%) per annum.

As at 31
guaranteed by HKMC Insurance Limited under SME Financing

March 2021, the unsecured bank loans are

Guarantee Scheme and personal guarantees given by Mr.
Yu and Mr. Chow, directors of the Company. The unsecured
bank loans carry effective interest rate ranging from 2.75%
to 2.90% (2020: 4.80%) per annum.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

T &= (&)

26. tR1T

R2021%F 38318 K&20206F3H318 -
EBBRITRAERERZERFNEHRE
HIBITRE

B

(a)

202138310 - A E IR ITE XK
83,991,0003% 7T (20204 : 85,454,000
7 7o) & 3R 17 i 48,0007 7T (2020
F:7914,000% L) A BE E A R
17 7 27,380,000/ 7T (20204 :
32,313,000/ 7T) - B 5 & W 3% B
10,439,000 7T (2020%F : 10,060,000
B BREAEBREENEGNEE
14,612,0007 7T (20204 : 13,898,000
B BATFEFABEN S
B & 79,828,000 It (20204 :
10,360,000/ 70) {18 & AR A &) K&
— IR BIKT B A R IR M AR HE R 1
R -

BREXFIBEBENEEE B RIE
Ry BEEBFRITERESER
7 B 374,413,000/ 7T (20204 :
76,710,000 7T) * TMAARRE —HBE
ERHARA —BESHKEFABE
Hl B A B P IS Y AR AR o

BERBRITEXRNERENERNF
2.65% ZE=2.90% (20204 : 2.25% =
4.82%) °

BITEIHNERFF X A4.00%
(20204F : 410% &2 4.75%) ©

M2021F3A31H @ EMEMRITER
HAEBEERBRARARRBRES /N
EREERGTEER  TUAR
RAIEEREERBEERHENEA
BRIEER EERBETERNE
B4 Fl R A F2.75% £ 2.90% (2020
1 4.80%) °
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e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

27. HE&SE

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments
HEMNRK HENRRE
2021 2020 2021 2020

20215 2020%F  2021%F  2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TE#ExX TFTET TER TAERT

Within one year —F R

In the second to fifth years, E_EERF
inclusive (BIEEEMSE)

Less: Future finance charges R A R X

Present value of lease liabilities HEAGBRE

Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 A R I BR

within 12 months (shown under W 78 %58 B 338 (R

current liabilities) mEBETAR)
Amount due for settlement after AN121E A & 2 B8

12 months NI R DR 0k @]

At 31 March 2021, the average borrowing rate was 4.04%
(2020: 4.23%). Interest rate are fixed at the contract dates
and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

1,743 1,449 1,649 1,428
1,700 - 1,672 -
3,443 1,449

(122) (21)
3,321 1,428 3,321 1,428

(1,649) (1,428)

1,672 -

R2021FE3A31H » FHERF X B
4.04% (20204 : 4.23%) ° R TR A %)
BHET AEEREEEEAFER
KRR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A3MBILEFE
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
Number of
shares Amount
& H &5
000 HK$°000
T % F& T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R EE0.017% 7T By & 3/ A%
Authorised: VA TE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 MR2019%F 4818 ~ 202053H31H
and 31 March 2021 20213 H31H 5,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER:
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 R2019%F 4818 ~ 20203 A31H
and 31 March 2021 & 202193 A31H 800,000 8,000

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects including
all rights as to dividends, voting and return of capital.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes bank borrowings as disclosed in note 26, net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity of the Group,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. Management
of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly taking
into account the cost of capital and the risk associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through issue of new shares, raise of new
borrowings or repayment of existing borrowings.

EERTRONMETE(BEES
BE - BREREARROMEEF)
198 [/ 30 7 ©

AEEERHES BEBEBERD
HERMELRETE BRAKHE
ERUSELE  TRARRMERK
Bl - REBNEBRAE F—FF
ERgERFITE -

AEENEARBREER (BREKE
0AWBMRITEN  CHBRRAS K
ReFENkASEREZEERECDH
ThRARFER) - AREEEETHR
AEARRE  EREBEAKAR A
EXREAONRER AKBEEBETH
By BRFERIEERBEN

NFEEBREEARE -
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29. RESERVES

(@) Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

29. f##E

(a)

A% E
AEENEESEREZH R
HAREREMRERARRE
AREEBENZT -

(b) Company (b) Z&2AF
Share Other Capital  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RHRE HttEE RERE Rt ER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHT THET THT THT FHT
(note)
(Bt %)
At 1 April 2019 R2019F 4 F1H 37,915 3,000 35,536 (14,522) 61,929
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE & 2 M
expense for the year ¥ B = = = (5,576) (5,576)
At 31 March 2020 and R2020%3A318 &
1 April 2020 2020 4A1H 37,915 3,000 35,536 (20,098) 56,353
Loss and total comprehensive FAEE L Z2H
expense for the year % 2% = = = (2,151) (2,151)
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A31H 37,915 3,000 35,536 (22,249) 54,202
Note: Capital reserve represented the difference between Mizk: WRAREEIEEEAN2018

the carrying amount of the equity of Polyfair HK prior

to a group reorganisation in 2018 and the issued

share capital of Polyfair HK pursuant to the group

reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

31.

As at 31 March 2021, certain assets of the Group were
pledged to secure an aggregate amount of bank loans of
HK$83,991,000 (2020: HK$85,454,000) and bank overdrafts
of HK$48,000 (2020: HK$7,914,000) as disclosed in note 26
and surety bonds of HK$21,263,000 (2020: HK$15,078,000)
as disclosed in note 31. The pledged bank deposits of
HK$25,309,000 (2020: HK$25,224,000), trade receivables
of HK$10,439,000 (2020: HK$8,760,000) and contract
assets of HK$6,159,000 (2020: HK$5,873,000) were also
pledged to secure the performance guarantees granted
under letters of guarantees of the Group of an aggregate
balance of HK$13,175,000 (2020: HK$15,078,000) given by
banks as disclosed in note 31. The pledged cash deposit
of HK$3,200,000 (2020: nil) was pledged to a third party
to secure the performance guarantee granted by the third
party of HK$8,088,000 (2020: nil) as disclosed in note 31.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE

The performance guarantees given by banks were granted
under letters of guarantees of the Group and were secured
by the Group’s pledged bank deposits, trade receivables
and contract assets as disclosed in note 30, which will be
released upon completion of the contract works.

As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, these surety bonds
given by banks were also secured by pledges of certain
properties held by a director of the Company and companies
controlled by a director of the Company or his close family
members as disclosed in note 32 and guaranteed by
corporate guarantees of the Company and a PRC subsidiary.

30.

31.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

EEEHR

M2021F3H31H A& B E T EE
BEE#H - &4 £ 583,991,000 T
(20204F : 85,454,000 7T) iR 17 B &
548,000 7T (20204 : 7,914,000/
JL) 88 17 35 2 (40 MY 3£ 26 F7 # 58) A &
21,263,000 7t (20204 : 15,078,000
& JT) & | R (0 B 5E31AT % BB
By ¥ {R ° 25,309,000/ JT (20204 :
25,224,000 L) WEE M IRITE N
10,439,000/ 7t (20204F : 8,760,0007%
TT) B & 5 FE I 5K 18 6,159,000 T
(20204F : 5,873,000/ L)W A X B &
MEER ERETRENBEASE
P& (R (IR /) 48 4 2 513,175,000
7 70 (20204 : 15,078,000/ JT) B /B
HEROEROMENMEE) - B
EH#IE £ 157 543,200,000 7T (20204 :
BIDEWRT—RF =1 1ERF=

% K B 49 #& 1R.8,088,0007% 7T (2020
FE)NEROWEIFTEE) -

B % #& &

RITIRENBOERIRIBEANEEE
REUFEL > WAXAKEDERRTHE
R BIRUFERANEEFER
(anfft SE30PT W BR) - BERAEARK RN &
WIRTITRMER -

202193318 % 202093 A31H * %
ZRTRENZEEERTARAAF —
FEERHAARA —RESTHHIE
ZHB AR E TR E R IEE
R (PO EE32 FT#E B8 ) R B AR A R e —fA
R B B A E A O SRR EIREE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

31.

32.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE (Continued)

The performance guarantee given by a third party was
secured by the Group’s pledged cash deposits as disclosed
in note 30 and guaranteed by personal guarantees by two
directors of the Company and corporate guarantees by the
Company and a Hong Kong subsidiary of the Group, which
will be released upon completion of the contract works.

At the end of both reporting periods, the directors of the
Company do not consider it is probable that a claim will be
made against the Group in respect of the above performance
guarantees.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2021, properties held by a director of the
Company and companies controlled by a director of the
Company or his close family members were pledged to
secure bank loans of HK$74,412,000 (2020: HK$76,710,000)
out of total secured bank loans of HK$83,991,000 (2020:
HK$85,454,000) as set out in note 26. These properties
were also pledged to secure surety bonds of HK$13,715,000
(2020: HK$15,078,000) given by banks as at 31 March 2021
as disclosed in note 31.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company, who
represent the key management personnel during the year,
are set out in note 13.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

31.

32.

B % #& & (3&)

FZTRHENBENERIALAKED
BB 27 5 E & R (A0 3057 ]
B)RAARAIMBEFHE AR
RARREAEE —HEENE QA
MERERERSE  ARERBR S
KW IR TRARER -

RAEREHER - ARFEZERS -
AEBAKRKAEEH] LR BOERE
HRE-

BEBLX5

M2021E3H31B  RRAFRI—REEK
HARA —ZESHEBABEHF N AR
Fras#E2 EH - 1F/83,991,000%8
7T (20204 : 85,454,000/ JT) A # #
$R1T B I B R 74,412,0007% T (2020
£ :76,710,0007% 7T ) R 1T & K& & 1R
(FRMIFE26)  WEMEREER -
EBR2021E3831H AR ITIRMEN
13,715,000/ 7T (20204F : 15,078,000
W TT) & E & R B9 5 R (L0 B 5231 R 3%

%) -

TEEERAEHM

AAREEZ(METEEEEAE)FER
B < B 72 Bt 7E18 o



33.

34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of independent trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees but subject to a
maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month for each employee
to the MPF Scheme.

The employees employed by the PRC subsidiary are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligations of the PRC subsidiary with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$1,530,000
(2020: HK$1,594,000) represents contributions paid or
payable to the above schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants
of the share option scheme including the directors of
the Company and eligible employees of the Group, the
shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary resolution
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25
January 2018 to approve the adoption of a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). No share options were
granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
on 25 January 2018.

33.

34.

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

iR K18 A 5t

REBARAACERNELEREES A
BESHE c BRESFHEMNEESARN
SENEEIRBE YHBIYRE
ANERTEE AEEEEBEAZH
LR & K ANH5% Aok T8 & a8 E
L HEANSREERBRES
STEEL M &= K A1,5008 7T ©

TENBARMEFENEERTEK
FiF 48 & 10 B 5K B 3R AR R AR R At B Y K
B -HEMNBARARETIENK —
B ARAKENGEERHR B
BABENES HEMNBAREHER
KENFENE -—BE/RIEERMT
S EHL AR ERHK -

B 18 = 0 Bk /9 48 X 7451,530,000% 7T
(20204 : 1,594,000/ JT) & 7N & @ &
F2021F3RNBLEEFE A LilizrEE
-5 Sk FE 5 A9 4R 3K o

BRES

RABRKREGFENZ2EE(BELARA
AMNESERAEBNEGERER) R
FTEEHER  ARRREELARAF
20181 H26BRITHRRBFEARE
LRB-IBERAESR  HEFEH—
EERETE(ERESED - 8RN
201841 A 250 B 4N B AR 5T 8 LA PR -
1 AR 4R B AR A 5T B R ] B AR
E o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are

summarised as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to participants for their
contribution to the Group.

Eligibility
Eligible participants include employees (whether full

time or part time employees, including non-executive
directors) and such other eligible participants.

Maximum number of shares

Maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Group must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of
shares in issue from time to time.

Total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not exceed 80,000,000 shares, being 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the listing date, 23
February 2018, unless the Group obtains the approval
of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting
for renewing the scheme mandate limit under the
Share Option Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(d) Period of the Share Option Scheme

(e)

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a
general meeting or by the board of directors, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share option shall be granted to any participant if
any further grant of options would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to such person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period up to and including such further
grant exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in
issue, unless:

(1) such further grant has been duly approved, in the
manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of
Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules, by resolution of
the shareholders in general meeting at which the
participant and his associates shall abstain from
voting;

(2) a circular regarding the further grant has been
despatched to the shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the information
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter
23 of the Listing Rules (including the identity
of the participant, the number and terms of
the share options to be granted and options
previously granted to such participant); and

(8)  the number and terms (including the subscription
price) of such share option are fixed before the
general meeting of the Company at which the
same are approved.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
B ZE2021F3A31B L FE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Payment on acceptance of the share
option

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option
offer will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days from the date on which the offer is granted.

Subscription price for shares

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of
directors at least the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares;

(2)  the average closing price of the shares for the
five consecutive business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and

(3) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.

The remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

Approximately 6 years and 10 months (expiring on 24
January 2028).
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. 8 BHE€RERMT
OF CASH FLOW

Change in liabilities arising from financing METBMELEAENED
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TR FANRNEERMEZSHTESE
arising from financing activities during the year. BENEE -
Interest Bank Lease
payable borrowings liabilities Total
FE A4S F B2 BiITENR HEEE st

HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
TAET TAET TAET TAET

At 1 April 2019 R2019F4H18 - 97,363 3,329 100,692
Changes in cash flows REME (5,557) (1,095) (1,864) (8,516)
Non-cash changes: FReEE -

- lease modification - HEEAT

- rent concession -MHeEE - - (37) (37)

- interest charged - M ERX 5,557 = = 5,557
At 31 March 2020 and #2020 3A318 &

1 April 2020 2020 4H1H - 96,268 1,428 97,696
Changes in cash flows REMEE T (4,103) 1,771 (1,753) (4,085)
Non-cash changes: JERLEF:

— interest charged - M ERX 4,103 - - 4,103

— Addition il - - 3,646 3,646
At 31 March 2021 1R 2021938318 - 98,039 3,321 101,360
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. XA R MBI AR R R

COMPANY
2021 2020
202145 20204F
HK$’000 HK$°000
TET T& T
Non-current assets EREE E
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RARIMIEE 68,058 68,036
Current assets mB) & E
Prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE  Zek
receivables H th & U 3R 1B 223 273
Amount due from a subsidiary JE W — [ B /&8 & & 5k I8 25 22
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 50 62
298 357
Current liabilities mB) A&
Amount due to a subsidiary JE 1~ — i B /B8 /2 B 538 5,887 3,833
Other payables H fth B SR IE 267 207
6,154 4,040
Net current liabilities mEaEFE (5,856) (3,683)
Net assets BEEFE 62,202 64,353
Capital and reserves BARK
Share capital g 7R 8,000 8,000
Reserves 1 54,202 56,353
Total equity T B 62,202 64,353
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

38.

COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 are as

follows:

Place of incorporation
and principal place of

Issued and fully

mEMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A3MBLEEE

37. ARTFMBLRFR

AR A FR2021F3H318 K 2020434
NHEEMEEFENNB AR N

BmT

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share capital held

Name of subsidiary business paid share capital by the Company Principal activities
A L i B R RN iE s
WEARERE TEEXNE EROTRBERE CERORTEENLA EEEH
2021 2020
20214 20204
% %
Direct subsidiary
EENEAR
Polyfair Group Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
ERXEEERAA RRRAHE /B 3 100 100 BREZRK
Indirect subsidiaries
HERELR
Polyfair HK Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100 100  Project management services
for facade and installation
of curtain wall systems and
investment holding
BEEE Bk 3,000,000% 7T 100 100 IMEEEEERBREBZS
ZEURREER
Shenzhen Polyfair PRC HK$1,000,000 100 100  Design of facade systems
Curtainwall Technology
Company Limited (note)
RYNBEEBEBHMBRBERRA  H 1,000,000 7t 100 100 SMERGRE
(Fif &)
Note: Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall Technology Company Limited MeE: RINBBRERBREBRAE IR

is registered under the law of the PRC as foreign investment

enterprise. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The

English name is for identification purpose only.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the respective reporting periods.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 June

2021.

BHEDEREMAIEREDLE -
ZERBNE I ERAT XA -
RXEZREMRBR -

RBBEREHR WB AR BERET
EREHES -

38. HEMBHRK

ZERAPERERED R 2021%F6 A22H
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Financial Summary

MBRERE

RESULTS ¥iE
For the five years ended 31 March 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and B E20174F ~ 20184F ~ 20194F + 20204 K 20214F
2021 SAMBLEREFE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204F 20194 20184 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THE T THE T FHETT T T
Revenue I 25 299,995 229,809 215,778 271,841 109,607
Profit/(loss) before B B AR A
taxation (&B#H) 2,941 592 (6,883) 8,084 9,467
Taxation (charge)/credit MEBE(HEX) e (1,002) 2,477 302 (3,915) (2,285)
Profit/(loss) for the year ~ FR&EF (E1E) 1,939 3,069 (6,581) 4,169 7,182
Other comprehensive FAEMEE
(expense)/income for (X)W A
the year (2) (30) (58) 100 =
Total comprehensive FREHEKRA S
income/(expense) for () 4%
the year 1,937 3,039 (6,639) 4,269 7,182
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T FH&E T FH& T F& T
Total assets EEBE 209,886 190,444 191,241 235,742 90,404
Total liabilities BEHE (143,546) (126,041)  (129,788)  (165,944) (70,790)
Net assets BEFE 66,340 64,403 61,453 69,798 19,614
Note: B =

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

The financial information for the year ended 31 March 2017 were
extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 31 January 2018.
Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Group had

been in existence throughout this financial year.

Polyfair Holdings Limited ZE 3 R AR A A

ERBMBEAEREEZGEE M HRERN— A

/7'7\ °

HZE2017F3A3NBIEFENMBER S
RAFBH A20185F1A31HM B EIE - BRI
BRI AEERTREBRAGREE—BEFE



POLYFAIR

Polyfair Holdings Limited
BRERBRAT



	Cover
	Inside Front Cover 
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Back Cover



